UCLA UCLA Electronic Theses and Dissertations

Title

Fluoride in the Greater Middle East and Its Source: A Literature Review

Permalink https://escholarship.org/uc/item/1b53h9td

Author Aldeghaither, Fahad Khalid A

Publication Date 2018

Peer reviewed|Thesis/dissertation

UNIVERSITY OF CALIFORNIA

Los Angeles

Fluoride in the Greater Middle East and Its Source:

A Literature Review

A thesis submitted in partial satisfaction of the requirements for the degree Master of Science in Civil Engineering

by

Fahad Kahlid A Aldeghaither

© Copyright by

Fahad Khalid A Aldeghaither

ABSTRACT OF THE THESIS

Fluoride in the Greater Middle East and Its Source:

A Literature Review

by

Fahad Khalid A Aldeghaither

Master of Science in Civil Engineering University of California, Los Angeles, 2018 Professor Michael K. Stenstrom, Chair

Fluoride is a common contaminant in water supplies. At concentration above 1.5 mg/L, it can cause dental fluorosis. At concentration of 4 mg/L and above, it can cause skeletal fluorosis. Granite and volcanic rocks can contain high amounts of fluoride. Fluorite (CaF₂) is the principal mineral of fluoride. Countries with excessive fluoride in drinking water include India, China, and Africa. Fluoride is common in groundwater sources with high bicarbonate and low calcium. The greater Middle East area has an arid to semiarid climate, where people consume high amounts of water. The fluoride concentrations in the area can be below 1 mg/L, such as in Jordan and Iraq, and higher than 10 mg/L, such as in Yemen and Pakistan. Foods and beverages can have significant fluoride concentrations, especially tea. Anthropogenic sources of fluoride include steel, phosphate, and aluminum manufacturing industries. Fluoride can be removed from different treatment process such as corncob adsorbents and reverse osmosis. An on-site removal process is necessary to treat excess fluoride in rural areas in the Greater Middle East.

The thesis of Fahad Khalid A Aldeghaither is approved.

Sanjay K. Mohanty

Irwin H. Suffet

Michael K. Stenstrom, Committee Chair

University of California, Los Angeles

Dedication

This thesis is dedicated to my parents for molding me into the person that I am proud to be today. I want to thank my parents for their unwavering support and encouragement and for believing that I could reach my fullest potential. I would also like to dedicate it to my siblings (Saud, Sara, Mohammed, and Abdullah) for their continuous support throughout my education and believing in me. Thank you for being the best family that a person can have. I hope I made you proud. This thesis is dedicated to you.

Table of Contents

1. Introduction	1
2. Global Distribution of Fluoride	3
3. Standards	
4. Bioavailability	
5. Health Eliects	8
5.1 Dental Fluorosis	9
5.1.1 Cases of Dental Fluorosis III the Oreater Middle East	10 12
5.2 Skeletal Fluorosis	13 14
5.5 Other meaning energy.	
6. Geochemistry	
7. Fluoride in Potable Water Supply	
7.1 Egypt	
7.2 Eritrea and Somalia	23
7.3 Gaza Strip, Palestine	24
7.4 Iran	25
7.5 Kuwait and United Arab Emirates (UAE)	27
7.6 Levant Region and Iraq	
7.7 North Africa	29
7.8 Oman	
7.9 Pakistan	31
7.10 Saudi Arabia	34
7.11 Sudan	
7.12 Turkey	
7.13 Yemen	
8. Fluoride in Food and Beverages	
8.1 Fluoride in Food	
8.2. Fluoride in Beverages	41
8.2.1 Fluoride in Water Bottles	
8.2.2. Fluoride in Tea	
9. Fluoride in Dentifrice Products	
10. Anthropogenic Sources of Fluoride	50
11. Removal Techniques	
11.1 Current Research on Fluoride Removal Techniques	54
11. Conclusion	56
References	59

List of Figures

Figure 1.1. Map of the Greater Middle East	4
Figure 7.1. Highest fluoride concentrations reported in the region	22

List of Tables

Table 2.1. Range of fluoride concentrations in various countries around the world.	4
Table 2.2. Endemic fluoride in various states in India	5
Table 3.1. Summary of different fluoride standards around the world	7
Table 6.1. Fluoride bearing minerals and percent weight fluoride in each mineral	18
Table 7.1. Fluoride concentrations from different areas in the Greater Middle East.	19
Table 8. 1. Label and measured fluoride values of water bottles sold in the Middle East and around world	43
Table 8.2. Mean fluoride concentration of different iced tea products	47
Table 9.1. Label and measured fluoride value of different brands of mouthrinses	48
Table 11.1. Advantages and disadvantages of the main fluoride removal processes	53

Acknowledgments

I would like to thank Dr. Michael K. Stenstrom, my advisor, for his encouragement, and support. I appreciate his guidance the past two years. Also, I appreciate his dedication in ensuring that I reach my fullest potential and pursue a successful career. I would like to thank Dr. Irwin H. Suffet for his support and providing me the odor panel job. I would like to thank Dr. Mohanty for his early advice on further pursuing my engineering career. I would also like to thank Elaine Wong for teaching me the necessary skills to work in her lab. I would like to thank the University of California, Los Angeles for this amazing educational experience.

1. Introduction:

Fluorine is a chemically reactive gas and rarely occurs in its natural elemental state. Fluorine exists in nature as fluoride (F⁻) by forming strong electronegative bonds with other elements. Fluoride is the thirteenth most abundant element and accounts for 0.3 g/kg of earth's crust (Yadav et al., 2007). It constitutes 0.06-0.09% of the earth's crust (Fawell et al., 2006). Fluoride is soluble and can form precipitates with calcium and magnesium to reduce its solubility. Fluoride can form complexes with Aluminum (Al), Beryllium (Be), Boron (B), and Silicon (Si) that increases its availability (Kundu et al., 2001). Fluorite (CaF₂) is the most abundant fluoride rich mineral in all rocks (Saxena and Ahmed, 2001). In addition, fluoride can occur in granite, gneisses, basalts, dolerites, quartzites, pegmatites, hornblende, syenites, biotite, muscovite, fluorapatite, fluormica, cryolite, villuanite (Saxena and Ahmed, 2003). Granite rocks can contain fluoride concentrations ranging from 20-3600 mg/L (Ayoob and Gupta, 2006).

Fluoride can contaminate drinking water supplies. Groundwater is especially vulnerable. Groundwater is a major source of drinking water and in some regions, such as the Middle East. Groundwater may constitute as much as 97% of the freshwater supply (Ayoob and Gupta, 2006). In many countries, groundwater is used for drinking and domestic uses without any physical or chemical treatment, which may lead to many health effects. In many developing countries, untreated groundwater is consumed due to lack of treated water supplies (Brindha and Elango, 2011).

People without proper sanitation represent 42% of the world's population (2.6 billion people), and 1.1 billion people do not have access to improved drinking water (WHO and UNICEF, 2005). Groundwater sources are prone to pollution due to geogenic and anthropogenic sources (Mamatha and Rao, 2009). Also, extensive pumping, agricultural and industrial activities

can contaminate groundwater sources (Baalousha, 2011). Groundwater with high fluoride typically have low calcium (Ca) and high bicarbonate (HCO₃⁻) (Edmunds and Smedley, 2013). High evaporation rate increases the dissolution of fluorite, hence, increasing fluoride in water (Mamatha and Rao, 2009). Due to hydrogeological and physiochemical parameters, controlling fluoride contamination in groundwater is difficult (Mohan et al, 2012).

Fluoride is transferred to the atmosphere by volcanic emissions, evaporation, marine aerosols, and industrial pollution. Major anthropogenic sources of fluoride include phosphate fertilizers, pesticides, sewage and sludge, aluminum smelting, steel industries, extraction of aluminum, petroleum refining, coal burning, HF production, clay production, fluorinated hydrocarbons, and brick and ceramic manufacturing (Kundu et al., 2001; Ahmed, 2014). In areas where fluoride-containing coal and phosphate fertilizers industries exist, elevated fluoride concentrations in the air can increase exposure through inhalation (Fawell et al., 2006). Fluoride sources in rainfall include marine aerosols, volcanic emissions, and anthropogenic introduction of chlorofluorocarbons (CFCs) (Edmunds and Smedly, 2013).

Fluoride in water supplies at low concentrations (0.8 to 1 mg/L) improves dental hygiene. At optimal levels, fluoride can prevent dental caries and enhance bone development. Water fluoridation and fluoridated dentifrices are responsible for the significant decline of dental caries (Stookey et al., 2004). The need for water fluoridation has decreased with the use of other forms of fluoride such as toothpaste in communities that lack fluoridated water (Newbrun, 1989). Dental caries can lead to pain, bacterial infection, and loss of dental functions. Also, it has been shown that poor dental health can decrease lifespan (Jansson et al, 2002)

At fluoride concentrations above 1.5 mg/L, it begins to cause dental fluorosis; therefore, the World Health Organization (WHO) set the guideline level for fluoride at 1.5 mg/L (Fawell et

al., 2006). Dental fluorosis is characterized by opaque white patches, mottling, and pitting of teeth. Fluoride levels exceeding 4-8 mg/L cause skeletal fluorosis that increases bone density, calcification of ligaments, and rheumatic or arthritic pain in joints and muscles. Also, It can cause stiffness and rigidity of joints and bending of vertebral column. (Kundu et al., 2001). Over 200 million people worldwide are affected by drinking water supplies with fluoride levels exceeding 1.5 mg/L (Mohan et al., 2012).

The Greater Middle East is known for its arid and semi-arid environment with frequent and severe dust and sandstorms in a number of regions. The Arabian Peninsula and south and southwestern Iran are recognized as one of the five regions in the world with the most intense dust storms (Misconi and Navi, 2010). Amini et al., (2008) has developed a probability map that shows high fluoride concentrations stretching from North Africa to the Middle East and toward Pakistan. Figure 1.1 shows a map of the Greater Middle East

The aim of this paper is to review the sources of fluoride in the Greater Middle East region and potential human and environmental impacts. A review of the geographic distribution of fluoride and anthropogenic sources throughout the region is provided.

2. Global Distribution of Fluoride:

Excess fluoride in potable water is a global issue, and it is not specific to the Middle East. There are many regions around the world where fluoride was reported to exceed the WHO permissible limit of 1.5 mg/L. Fluoride was reported in Argentina (Paoloni et al., 2003; Gomez et al., 2009), Cameroon (Fantong et al., 2010), China (Gao et al., 2007; Guo et al, 2007), Estonia (Karro et al., 2006), Ethiopia (Rango et al., 2012), Indonesia (Heikens et al., 2005), Kenya (Gaciri and Davies, 1993; Kahama et al., 1997), Malawi (Msonda et al., 2007), Mexico (Valenzuela-Vásquez et al., 2006), Mongolia (Deng et al., 2009; Guo et al., 2012), Nigeria (Dibal et al., 2012), Senegal (Brouwer et al., 1988), South Korea (Kim and Jeong, 2005), Tanzania (Nanyaro et al., 1984), and the United States of America (USA) (Cohen and Conrad, 1998; Hudak and Sanmanee, 2003; Ozsvath, 2006). Table 2.1 shows the range of fluoride concentrations in different parts of the world.



Figure 1.1. Map of the Greater Middle East (modified from MappingOurWorld, 2016)

Table 2.1	. Range of	fluoride	concentrations	in	various	countries	around	the	worl	d
-----------	------------	----------	----------------	----	---------	-----------	--------	-----	------	---

		Range of fluoride	
Area/Region	Country	(mg/L)	Reference
Central area	Argentina	0.5-12	Gomez et al., 2009
Pampa	Argentina	0.9-18.2	Paoloni et al., 2003
Mayo Tsanaga River basin,	Cameroon	0.19-15.2	Fantong et al., 2010
-	Estonia	0.01-6.95	Karro et al., 2006
Ethiopian Rift	Ethiopia	7.8-18	Rango et al., 2012
Muenster region	Germany	<0.01-8.80	Queste et al., 2001
Situbondo district, Java,	Indonesia	0.1-4.2	Heikens et al., 2005
Lake Elementatia region, Kenya	Kenya	2.25-20.60	Kahama et al., 1997
Nathenje area, Lilongwe District	Malawi	<0.5-7.02	Msonda et al., 2007

Hermosillo City, Sonora,	Mexico	0.53-7.59	Valenzuela-Vásquez, 2006
Hetao Plain	Mongolia	0.30-6.01	Deng et al., 2009
Shahai town	Mongolia	0.30-2.57	Guo et al., 2012
Northern region	Nigeria	0-10.30	Dibal et al., 2012
-	Senegal	<0.1-7.4	Brouwer et al., 1988
Lakeland, California	USA	3.6-5.3	Cohen and Conrad, 1998
North-Central Texas	USA	<0.6-6.27	Hudak and Sanmanee, 2003
Marathon County, Wisconsin	USA	<0.01-7.60	Ozsvath, 2006

High fluoride has been reported in the Rift Valley, East of Africa. Volcanism and various types of rocks are concentrated in the Rift Valley and are responsible for the exceptionally high fluoride in the Valley (Nanyaro et al., 1984). Also, Climatic conditions in the area induce chemical weathering of the fluoride-containing rocks (Gaciri and Davies, 1993).

Many studies have been conducted in different parts of India (Rao et al., 1993; Sarma and Rao, 1997; Latha et al., 1999; Kundu et al., 2001; Gupta et al., 2005; Misra and Mishra, 2007; Kundu and Mandal, 2009a; Mamatha and Rao, 2009). Fluoride is endemic in 20 states affecting 65 million people (Kundu and Mandal, 2009b). Table 2.2 shows endemic fluoride in different states in India.

Table 2.2. Endemic fluoride in various states in India (adapted from Susheela, 1999; Meenakshi and Maheshwari, 2006)

	Range of fluoride
States	concentration (mg/L)
Assam	0.2–18.1
Andhra Pradesh	0.11-20.0
Bihar	0.6-8.0
Delhi	0.4–10.0
Gujarat	1.58-31.0
Haryana	0.17–24.7
Jammu and Kashmir	0.05-4.21
Karnataka	0.2–18.0
Kerala	0.2–2.5

Maharashtra	0.11-10.2
Madhya Pradesh	0.08–4.2
Orrissa	0.6–5.7
Punjab	0.44-6.0
Rajasthan	0.2-37.0
Tamilnadu	1.5-5.0
Uttar Pradesh	0.12-8.9
West Bengal	1.5–13.0

3. Standards:

In 1958 and 1963, WHO international drinking water standards suggested that fluoride in excess of 1.0-1.5 mg/L might cause dental fluorosis; in addition, higher concentration may result in skeletal fluorosis. The 1971 International Standards recommended concentration limits for fluoride in drinking water depending on climatic conditions because water consumption is greater in temperate regions. The recommended concentrations for temperatures of 26.3-32.6°C and 10–12 °C are 0.6-0.8 mg/L 0.9-1.7 mg/L, respectively (WHO, 2004). As a result of the various reports on dental fluorosis due to high fluoride in potable water, the WHO established a guideline value of 1.5 mg/L. However, WHO noted that local application of the permissible limit of fluoride must take into account climatic condition and water intake (WHO, 2004). Brouwer et al. (1988) suggested that due to high intake of water in arid climates, the WHO standard of 1.5 mg/L might be too high in arid regions. Fluoride standards in many countries are different. Table 3.1 shows fluoride standards from different countries. For example, the permissible limit of fluoride in Saudi Arabia and India is 1 mg/L (SASO, 1984 as cited in Al-Turki, 2009; BIS, 2012). However, in Egypt, the fluoride standard is set at 0.8 mg/L (Abdel-Azeem et al., 2009). Furthermore, the maximum contaminant level (MCL) set by the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) is at 4 mg/L. The NRC released a report, stating that the current MCL does not prevent health effects associated with fluoride; therefore, the MCL should be lowered (Carton, 2006).

	Limit/guideline/standard
Institution/Nation	(mg/L)
World Health Organization (WHO)	1.5
	4 ^[a]
US EPA	2 ^[b]
Canada	1.5
China	1
Egypt Ministry of Health	0.8
Bureau of Indian Standards (BIS)	1
Saudi Arabia Standards Organization (SASO)	1
Gulf Countries Cooperation Standards (GCC)	1.5
Moroccan Industrial Standards Office (SNIMA)	0.7
Institute of Standards and Industrial Research of Iran	$0.7 - 1.2^{[d]}$

Table 3.1. Summary of different fluoride standards around the world

^[a] Maximum contaminant level (MCL)

^[b] Secondary standard

^[c] Desirable levels depending on annual average of maximum daily temperature

4. Bioavailability:

Fluoride is difficult to sense because it does not produce taste or odor in potable water nor does it produce a detectable color change. Laboratory testing is required to identify fluoride at concentrations of interest in drinking water (Ahmed, 2014). High concentrations of fluoride stimulate bone resorption and produce higher urine concentration, which can be a biomarker for fluoride (Ando et al., 2001). About 75-90% of ingested fluoride is absorbed in the gastrointestinal tract, which mainly accumulates in the bone and teeth (Mesdaghinia et al., 2010). Most of the remaining fluoride is absorbed by the small intestine (Whitford, 1994). The kidney excretes 40-60% of fluoride in the body through urine. About 50% of fluoride that enters the gastrointestinal tract enters the skeleton (Whyte et al, 2005). The fluoride that is taken up in the bones replaces hydroxyl ions to form fluoroapatite ($Ca_5(PO_4)_3F$) (McGill, 1995). Bone content provides a measure of cumulative fluoride exposure; nonetheless, bone samples are difficult to obtain (MRC, 2002). There are several potential markers for excessive fluoride consumption. Important biomarkers of fluoride include fluoride levels in plasma and urine. A study was conducted on 14year old Hungarian children exposed to different levels of fluoride to assess the most effective biomarker of fluoride. A total of 139 children were examined. Samples of urine, fingernails, head-hair, saliva, plaque and enamel were collected. The results show that all samples except for plaque are reliable indicators of exposure to fluoride (Schamschula et al., 1985). However, a study in Sao Paolo, Brazil showed that there was no significant correlation with the concentration of fluoride consumed and fluoride levels in fingernails (Almeida et al., 2007). Also, Ekstrand et al. (1983) showed that fluoride concentration in urine varies depending on the individual and deduced that urine is unreliable indicator for fluoride intake. Absorption of fluoride is reduced in the presence of calcium, magnesium and aluminum (McGill, 1995).

The main route of fluoride absorption is through the gastrointestinal tract. Inhalation is another route of exposure to fluoride in industrial area (MRC, 2002). Consumption of food and milk reduces fluoride retention because food and milk form insoluble complexes or precipitates. The consumption of high calcium-containing foods and beverages can further reduce the absorption of fluoride (MRC, 2002).

5. Health Effects:

Fluoride at low concentrations (0.7 to 1.2 mg/L) reduces dental caries, which are characterized by the demineralization of inorganic components of the teeth. Caries are the result of bacterial growth in oral cavity. The rate of dental caries increased rapidly with the rise of sugar consumption (Sheiham, 1984). Caries can cause pain, bacterial infection, and loss of dental function). At optimal levels, fluoride can reduce the incidence of dental caries.

Furthermore, at fluoride concentration higher than 1.5 mg/L, it can cause dental fluorosis (Fawell et al., 2006). Industrial fluorosis occurs when there is prolonged exposure to high atmospheric concentration fluoride (McGill, 1995). Source of fluoride include water, fluoride supplements, dentifrices, and formula (Alvarez et al., 2009).

5.1 Dental Fluorosis:

Dental fluorosis is an irreversible change in the tooth forming cells and the mineral content (eg. hydroxyapatite) of the enamel. Dental fluorosis is characterized by mottling and discoloration of the teeth. In severe cases, it is conducive to pitting of the surface and chipping of the edges of the teeth (McGill, 1995). Higher intakes of fluoride in the developmental stages of the tooth will result in more severe fluorosis (Burt, 1992).

The presence of fluoride in the enamel was reported in 1805 by French chemists Gay-Lussac and Berthollet (Rao, 1984). First reports of dental fluorosis were in 1888 when a family from Durango, Mexico was described as having black teeth (Fawell et al., 2006). In the early 1900s, fluorosis was recognized as an endemic problem, and it was not until the 1940s that fluoride concentrations at 2 mg/L or higher were determined to cause fluorosis (Rao, 1984).

Dental fluorosis depends on the quantity of fluoride, duration of exposure, and stage of tooth development (Almeida et al., 2007). Also, its depends on an individual's response and weight (Alvarez et al., 2009). Renal insufficiency and malnutrition contribute to the prevalence of fluorosis. Impairment in the renal functions increases the retention of fluoride in the body (Torra et al., 1998). Dental fluorosis is conducive to low mineral content of the enamel and increased porosity (Alvarez et al., 2009). Naturally occurring fluoride concentrations above 1.5 mg/L may directly or indirectly result in dental fluorosis through the consumption of water, infant formula, and other fluoride sources. To minimize the prevalence of dental fluorosis,

parents should monitor children's diet and monitor children during brushing to avoid swallowing toothpaste. Alvarez et al., (2009) suggests that parents should be encouraged to use lower fluoride toothpaste. The optimal daily dose of fluoride is 0.05-0.07 mg/kg (Leverett, 1986; Burt, 1992).

5.1.1 Cases of Dental Fluorosis in the Greater Middle East:

There are many reports of dental fluorosis in the Middle East. A study was conducted on 58 children aged 5-6 years old and 421 students ranging from 7-12 year olds in northwestern villages of Makoo, Iran (Aminabadi et al., 2007). The results show that 100% of the population had dental fluorosis. The Most prevalent form is moderate fluorosis, which is 44% of the total population. In this study, boys had higher prevalence of moderate fluorosis than girls; however, the difference was not statistically significant. Furthermore, dental fluorosis was reported in some villages in Dashtestan, Iran (Dobaradaran et al., 2008). Elevated fluoride concentrations and extensive tea consumption are the main causes of fluorosis in the area. Ramezani et al. (2004) conducted a study in urban and rural areas of Daver city, Boushehr Province, Iran. The mean fluoride concentrations were 2.23 mg/L and 2.63 in urban and rural areas, respectively. The number of Students tested for fluorosis were 506. A total of 365 students (86%) had fluorosis. The form of fluorosis that was more prevalent was mild fluorosis (43.6%). Percent of students with moderate and severe fluorosis were 25% and 11.5%, respectively

Akpata et al. (1997) investigated the prevalence of dental fluorosis among 12-15 year old rural children in Hail Province, Saudi Arabia. The population involved in the study included 2355 children. Fluoride concentrations in the area ranged from 0.543-2.848 mg/L. Only 9.3% (220) of the children were free of fluorosis while 90.7% of the children had fluorosis. Moreover, a study was conducted in 10 regions of Saudi Arabia (Al-Shammery et al., 1997). The ten

regions include Eastern province, Al Qassim, Hail, Tabouk, Najran, Al Baha, Jizan, Makkah, Medina, and Asir. Six age groups were tested, which include 6-7, 12-13, 15-19, 20-29, 35-44, and 65-74 year olds. The prevalence of dental fluorosis ranged from 7.7% among 6-7 year olds to 37.54% in 20-29 year olds.

A study in Riyadh, Jeddah, and Al Qassim, Saudi Arabia investigated the prevalence of dental fluorosis in rural and urban areas; also, the study assessed the effect of socioeconomic status and malnutrition on the prevalence of fluorosis (Rugg-Gunn et al., 1997). The mean fluoride concentration in urban and rural communities in Riyadh was 0.78 and 0.8 mg/L, respectively. In Jeddah, the mean fluoride concentration was 0.22 and 0.25 in urban and rural area, respectively. The mean fluoride concentration in Al Qassim was 2.66 and 2.71 mg/L in urban and rural communities, respectively. A total of 1,539 children were examined. The total prevalence of dental fluorosis was 83%. Fluorosis was highest in rural areas compared to urban areas (Rugg-Gunn et al., 1997). Also, children classified as malnourished had higher prevalence of dental fluorosis. Almas et al. (1999) studied the occurrence of dental fluorosis in urban and rural area of Buraidah city, Al Qassim Providence, Saudi Arabia. A total of 400 people from different age groups were examined. Results of the study showed that fluorosis was higher in rural areas than in urban areas.

In Zagazig center, Egypt, a total of 3600 children ranging from 12-15 years old were tested for dental fluorosis (El Telety et al., 2012). The fluoride concentration in the area varied form 0.26-0.88 mg/L. The overall prevalence of dental fluorosis was 25.6%. Fluorosis was higher in rural areas (31.7%) than in urban areas (22.6%).

A total of 800 participants selected from two communities in Khartoum state were examined for dental fluorosis (Ramadan and Ghandour, 2016). The two communities were Um

Duwanban and Tiraat El-Bijah. Participants in the study include students and staff from primary and secondary school, and local residents. The mean fluoride concentrations of Um Duwanban and Tiraat El-Bijah were 1.36 and 0.45 mg/L, respectively. The prevalence of fluorosis was higher Um Duwanban than in Tiraat El-Bijah. Also, the results show that 70% of the population in Um Duwanban had dental fluorosis while 42.5% of the population of Tiraat El-Bijah had fluorosis. Ibrahim et al. (1995a) examined 113 children for dental fluorosis in two villages in the Khartoum area. The children's age ranged from 7-16. The average fluoride concentration was 0.25 and 2.56 mg/L. The results showed that the severity of fluorosis was higher in the higher fluoride area.

A study in the 5 governorates of Gaza Strip was conducted to assess the occurrence of dental fluorosis on 350 children (Abuhaloob and Abed, 2013). The prevalence of fluorosis was 78%. Children with moderate and severe form of fluorosis were 63.4% and 14.6%, respectively. Another study in Gaza was conducted to evaluate the prevalence of fluorosis (Mann et al., 1990). A total of 152 Children were examined. Three water samples collected from the area showed fluoride levels ranging from 4.7-5.3 mg/L. The prevalence of fluorosis was 97.4%. Furthermore, Hamdan, (2003) examined A total of 1,878 children in different regions of Jordan were examined for dental fluorosis. The results show that 18.5% of the children had fluorosis. Hamdan suggests that the prevalence of fluorosis in the south regions of Jordan could be related to high consumption of tea. Also, phosphate mines in the area is another possible reason for the prevalence and severity of fluorosis.

Furthermore, a comparative study was conducted in in two districts: Sinjar, Iraq and Thamar, Yemen (Salman and Al-Ajrab, 2008). The number of students included in the study was 572 student from Sinjar and 332 students form Thamar. The range of fluoride in Sinjar was 2.05-

2.22 mg/L. Flouride in Thamar ranged from 1.8-2.2 mg/L. The occurrence of fluorosis was higher in Sinjar (52.1%) compared to Thamar (16.99%).

5.2 Skeletal Fluorosis:

Signs of skeletal fluorosis include osteosclerosis, limited movement of the joints, and spinal curvature (Finkelman et al., 2002). Millions of people in Africa, China, and India are affected by skeletal fluorosis (Fawell et al, 2016). Skeletal fluorosis occurs when fluoride replaces hydroxide ions (OH⁻) to from hydroxyapatite (Ca₅(PO₄)₃OH), which is the principal constituent mineral of bones. Crippling fluorosis is a more severe form of skeletal fluorosis and occurs at higher fluoride concentrations, 5 to 10 mg/L or higher. It is caused by long-term exposure of high fluoride. The introduction of considerable amount of fluoride to the bone can make the bone denser, harder, and more brittle (Whitford, 1994). As fluoride levels increases in the bone, changes develop in the structure of the bone, which exhibits calcified ligaments, immobility, and neurological problems (Kut et al., 2016). Also, malnutrition and impaired renal function can increase the incidence of crippling fluorosis (Ayoob and Gupta, 2006). Crippling fluorosis is characterized by increased convexity in the curvature of the thoracic spine (kyphosis), lateral curvature of the vertebral column (Scoliosis). In addition, it causes paralysis of the lower part of the body and all four limbs (Ayoob and Gupta, 2006). Back stiffness and limb pains are common among skeletal fluorosis patients. In endemic regions, it is estimated that 10% of people with skeletal fluorosis exhibit neurological disorders. Neurological disorder among some skeletal fluorosis patients is associated with mechanical compression of the spinal cord and nerve roots (McGill, 1995).

5.3 Other Health Effects:

Kidneys can be a target of chronic fluoride toxicity from high fluoride exposure. Impaired kidney functions decrease the efficiency of fluoride excretion through urine. As a result, people with kidney diseases are at higher risk of developing fluorosis even at recommended levels (Bansal and Tiwari, 2006). A medical report on a 40-year female patient from India with renal failure was diagnosed with fluorosis. The fluoride concentration of the drinking water supply in the village was 3.910 mg/L (Bansal and Tiwari, 2006).

In addition to kidney damage, fluoride can cause damage to the liver. A study in China was conducted to evaluate the effect of different concentration of fluorides on 210 children (Xiong et al., 2007). The population was selected from four different areas in China with fluoride levels ranging from 0.61-5.69 mg/L. Serum and urine samples were collected to measure fluoride levels in the samples and assess the damage to the liver and kidney. The results show that the fluoride levels in urine and serum samples collected from individuals living in areas with higher fluoride in the water supply were significantly higher than individuals in control areas. The results suggest that fluoride concentrations at 2 mg/L or higher can cause liver and kidney damage in children.

Fluoride has been associated with cancer. Takahashi et al. (2001) showed that exposure to fluoride can be associated with different types of cancers. However, other studies showed that there was no evidence that fluoride increases the incidence of cancer (Hoover et al, 1976; Oldham and Newell, 1977). Fluoride can form hydrofluoric acid (HF) in the stomach, which results in gastrointestinal irritation or corrosive effects (Islam and Patel, 2011b). Fluoride can affect the gastric mucosa. The low pH in the gastric mucosa and the formation of HF causes the mucosal injuries. In addition, HF can easily penetrate lipid cell membranes and dissociate into

fluoride and hydrogen, which results in toxic effects on enzymes and causes structural damage (Spak et al., 1989). Excess fluoride intake can interfere with carbohydrate, lipid, protein, vitamin and mineral metabolism based on animal experiments. (Islam and Patel, 2011b).

High fluoride has been associated with other health effects. Reports show that fluoride can inhibit certain antioxidant enzymes (Blaylock, 2004). The inhibition of antioxidant enzymes increases free radicals and produces neurological disorders. Fluoride toxicity can inhibit brain energy production. In the presence of aluminum, fluoride-aluminum complexes can accumulate in the brain and lead to prolonged neurotoxicity. In addition, fluoride can impair energy producing enzymes and inhibit DNA repair (Blaylock, 2004).

6. Geochemistry:

Fluorite (CaF₂) is the principal mineral of fluoride occurring in nature (Kundu et al., 2001). In the Middle East, fluorite deposits occur within Sanandaj–Sirjan Zone, Central Iran Domain, and the Precambrian Arabian Shield (Misconi and Navi, 2010). Major sources of fluoride are related to volcanic activity and chemical weathering of volcanic rocks (Gaciri and Davies, 1993). Volcanic ash is also a significant source of fluoride because it is readily soluble in water (Brindha and Elango, 2011). Igneous and sedimentary rocks can contain elevated fluoride concentrations. Examples of rocks that can contain fluoride include granite, gneisses, basalts, dolerites, quartzites, pegmatites, hornblende, syenites, biotite, muscovite, fluorapatite, fluormica, cryolite, villuanite (Saxena and Ahmed, 2003). Table 6.1 shows the fluoride content of different types of rocks. There are many factors that introduce fluoride in groundwater. Weathering of fluoride-bearing minerals, presence of carbon dioxide, long retention time, and climate are important factors that can influence the enrichment of fluoride in groundwater (Handa, 1975).

Soluble fluoride is biologically vital to plants and animals; also, it is an indicator of fluoride availability and pollution (Arnesen, 1997). In addition, soluble fluoride can reflect the risk of fluoride toxicity in plants and groundwater contamination (Loganathan et al., 2006). Plants uptake of fluoride are typically low (Loganathan et al., 2006). Fluoride is concentrated in the roots due the low mobility of fluoride. Fluoride can inhibit photosynthesis and other processes (Kumar, 2015).

Most of fluoride in the soil is insoluble. Risk of groundwater contamination with fluoride is highest in strongly acidic and alkaline soils (Wenzel and Blum, 1992). In acidic conditions, fluoride forms complexes with aluminum (Ayoob and Gupta, 2006). Low pH can increase fluoride levels in the soil, elevating the plant's uptake of fluoride via the root (Kumar, 2015). In basic conditions, fluoride can replace hydroxide ions (OH⁻) in rocks. The presence of bicarbonate (HCO₃⁻) accelerates the dissolution of fluorite, which releases fluoride (Saxena and Ahmed, 2001). The reaction below shows the effect of bicarbonate in the dissolution of fluorite:

 $CaF_{2} + Na_{2}CO_{3} \rightarrow CaCO_{3} + 2F^{-} + 2Na^{+}$ $CaF_{2} + 2NaHCO_{3} \rightarrow CaCO_{3} + 2Na^{+} + 2F^{-} + H_{2}O + CO_{2}$

Fluoride-rich groundwater is associated with high pH as indicated by the equations above since bicarbonate (HCO₃⁻) is prevalent at pH 7 and above (Loganathan et al., 2006; Farooqi et al., 2009). Increased fluoride at high pH is due ion exchange between hydroxide and fluoride in the soil (Arnesen, 1997). At high pH, the colloidal surfaces are negatively charges, creating repulsive forces that promote desorption of fluoride. (Wenzel and Blum, 1992; Loganathan et al., 2006). The effect of pH on fluoride solubility is enhanced in the presence of large organic matter (Loganathan et al., 2006). High evapotranspiration increases the fluoride content of groundwater. High temperature promotes chemical weathering of fluoride-bearing minerals (Ali et al., 2016). Intense evaporation in arid and semi arid regions can accumulate fluoride by limiting fresh water

exchange, which results in precipitation of salts, including fluoride-rich salts (Rao, 2003). The fluoride-rich precipitates are readily soluble, and can contaminate new waters sources. Low fluoride can be associated with shallow aquifers because evapotranspiration becomes ineffective in concentrating fluoride due to rapid freshwater exchange (Handa, 1975). Nonetheless, some studies show that shallow groundwaters have higher fluoride content compared to deeper groundwater (Gupta et al., 2005). Other reports show that deeper groundwater accumulate more fluoride because of prolonged water-rock interaction (Edmunds and Smedly, 2013). Fluoride is higher in deep soils compared to surface soils (Farooqi et al., 2009). The various conclusions made by previous investigators are different and suggest that groundwater Fluoride concentrations are difficult to predict and site-specific investigations are required.

Furthermore, Fluoride can be higher in environments with low calcium and magnesium because of reduced precipitation of Fluorite (CaF₂) (Rao et al., 1993; Kundu et al., 2001). In some cases, high fluoride is related to elevated nitrate (NO⁻₃) (Handa, 1975; Sarma and Rao, 1997). Elmabrok et al. (2015) showed that fluoride in groundwater is related to high chloride (Cl⁻) and sulphate (SO₄²⁻). Farooqi et al., (2009) showed that high fluoride could be associated with high arsenic concentrations in groundwater. Sodium can increase the dissolution of fluorite in groundwater. Reports show that high fluoride concentrations are correlated with elevated sodium levels in groundwater (Asghari Moghaddam and Fijani, 2008). The excessive extraction of groundwater sources can result in seawater intrusion (Gao et al, 2007). Seawater intrusion increases the sodium concentration. Increasing sodium concentration reduces the saturation of fluorite in groundwater, thus, increasing the dissolution of fluoride (Gao et al, 2007).

1			
	Mineral	Formula	F (wt. %)
	Fluorite	CaF ₂	47.81-48.80
	Cryolite	Na ₃ AlF ₆	53.48-54.37
	Fluocerite	CeF ₃	19.49-28.71
	Yttrofluorite	$(Ca,Y)(F,O)_2$	41.64-45.54
	Gagarinite	NaCaYF ₆	33.0-36.0
	Bastnäsite	Ce(CO ₃)F	6.23-9.94
	Synchisite	CeCa(CO ₃) ₂ F	5.04-5.82
	Parisite	$CeCa(CO_3)_2F_2$	5.74-7.47
	Pyrochlore	NaCaNb ₂ O ₅ F	2.63-4.31
	Microlite	$(Ca,Na)_2Ta_2O_6(O,OH,F)$	0.58-8.08
	Amblygonite	LiAl(PO ₄)	0.57-11.71
	Apatite	Ca ₅ (PO ₄) ₃ (F,ClOH)	1.35-3.77
	Herderite	Ca(BePO ₄)(F,OH)	0.87-11.32
	Muscovite	$KAl_2(AlSi_3O_{10})(OH,F)_2$	0.02-2.95
	Biotite	$K(Mg,Fe)_3(AlSi_3O_{10})(OH)_2$	0.08-3.5
	Lepidolite	KLi(Fe,Mg)Al(AlSi ₄ O ₁₀)(F,OH)	0.62-9.19
	Zinnwaldite	KLiFe ²⁺ Al(AlSi ₃ O ₁₀)(F,OH) ₂	1.28-9.15
	Polylithionite	KLi ₂ Al(Si ₄ O ₁₀)(F,OH) ₂	3.00-7.73
	Tainiolite	$KLiMg_2(Si_4O_{10})F_2$	5.36-8.56
	Holmquistite	$Li_2(Mg, Fe^{2+})_3(Al, Fe^{3+})_2(Si_2O_{22})(OH, F)_2$	0.14-2.55
	Hornblende	NaCa ₂ (Mg,Fe,Al) ₅ (Si,Al) ₈ O ₂₂)(OH,F) ₂	0.01-2.9
	Riebeckite	$Na_2Fe_3^{2+}Fe_2^{3+}(Si_4O_{11})_2(OH,F)_2$	0.30-3.31
	Arfvedsonite	$Na_3Fe_4^{2+}Fe_3^{3+}(Si_4O_{11})_2(OH,F)_2$	2.05-2.95
	Ferrohastingsite	$NaCaFe_4^{2+}(Al,Fe^{3+})(Si_6Al_2O_{22}) (OH,F)_2$	0.02-1.20
	Spodumene	LiAL(SiO ₃) ₂	0.02-0.55
	Astrophylite	$(K, Na)_2(Fe^{2+}, Mn)_4TiSi_4O_{14}(OH_2)$	0.70-0.86
	Wöhlerite	NaCa ₂ (Zr,Nb)O(Si ₂ ,O ₇)F	2.80-2.98
	Tourmaline	$Na(Mg,Fe)_3Al_6(BO_3)_3(Si_6O_{18})(OH)_4$	0.07-1.27
	Sphene	CaTiSiO ₅	0.28-1.36
	Topaz	$Al_2SiO_4(OH,F)_2$	13.01-20.43
	Yttrobrithiolite	$(Ce,Y)_3C_2(SiO_4)_3OH$	0.50-1.48

Table 6.1. Fluoride bearing minerals and percent weight fluoride in each mineral (adapted from Bailey, 1977).

7. Fluoride in Potable Water Supply:

The Greater Middle East is characterized mainly by an arid/semi-arid climate. As a result, water scarcity is major issue in the region. In urbanized areas, infrastructures exist to provide

safe drinking water, either by removing contaminants in municipal water treatment plants or developing desalination plants, such as Saudi Arabia and Kuwait. However, impoverished areas or very remote areas are vulnerable to contaminant exposure because they lack the means and capacity to treat their water supply (Bretzler and Johnson, 2015). This chapter discusses reports of fluoride in the Greater Middle East. Table 7.1 shows the fluoride concentration from different regions of the Middle East. Figure 7.1 shows the maximum reported fluoride from different parts of the Greater Middle East.

Concentration (mg/L)								
					samples			
Area	Country	Min	Max	Mean	/wells	Climate	Reference	
Southern Districts	Algeria	0.40	2.30	1.32*	16	Semi-arid/Arid	Messaïtfa 2008	
Luxor Saint Katherine	Egypt	0.11	0.45	0.24	33	Arid	Ahmed, 2014	
Protectorate	Egypt	0.90	2.00	1.32*	19	Arid	Abdel-Azeem,, 2009 Easa and Abou-Rayan,	
Tahta city	Egypt	1.85	8.83			Arid	2010	
Keren Town	Eritrea	0.68	3.73	-	-	Semi-arid/Arid	Srikanth et al., 2002 Dobaradaran et al.,	
Dashtestan area	Iran	0.99	2.50	-	-	Arid	2008 Battaleb-Looie et al.,	
		0.76	4.35	1.74	35	Arid	2012 Ramezani, et al.	
Dayer City	Iran	2.00	2.50	2.23	3	Arid	(2004)	
Hamadan Province	Iran	0.00	1.78	-	192	Arid	Rafati et al., 2013	
		0.00	4.54	0.58	508	Arid	Leili et al., 2015	
Khaf city	Iran	0.11	3.59	0.88	62	Semi-arid	Amouei et al., 2012	
Lar, Fars Province	Iran	0.59	3.92	1.85	17	Arid	Rezaei et al., 2017	
Maku area, West Azerbaijan province	Iran	0.30	5.96	-	70	Arid	Moghaddam and Fijani, 2008	
Mianeh city Muteh area. Isfahan	Iran	0.19	0.73	0.41	56	Mediterranean	Davil, et al. 2012	
Province Southeast Bushehr	Iran	0.20	9.20	1.56	47	Semi-arid/Arid	Keshavarzi et al. 2010 Battaleb-Looie et al	
Province	Iran	0.40	3.00	-	27	Semi-arid/Arid	2013	
Tabasein Plain	Iran	0.64 <0.5	1.71	1.15*	22	Arid	Boskabady et al., 2016	
Baghdad	Iraq	0	1.50	-	27	Arid	Barbooti, et al. 2010 Abu Rukah. and	
Northern Jordan	Jordan	0.009	0.055	-	-	Arid	Alsokhny 2004	
Alagilat	Libya	0.80	3.20	2.04	65	Arid	Elmabrok, 2015	
Al Zawia and Al Zahra	Libya	10.20	11.00	10.73	N/A		Nasr, et al., 2014	

Table 7.1. Fluoride concentrations from different areas in the Greater Middle East.

Bahira plain	Morocco	0.00	3.21	1.24*	62	Arid	Karroum et al., 2017
Plateau of Benguerir	Morocco	3.80	4.10	-	-		Garmes, et al. 2002
Al Musanaah State	Oman	0.65	12.18	3	58	Arid Semi-	Askri, 2015
Kalalanwala, East Punjab	Pakistan	0.95	21.10	11	24	arid/Subtropical	Farooq et al., 2007a
		0.24	22.80	-	147	arid/Subtropical	Farooq et al., 2007b
Nagar Parkar	Pakistan	1.13	7.85	3.33	32	Arid/Tropical	Rafique et al, 2009
Nagai I aikai	i akistali	18.50	35.40	24.9*	9	Arid/Tropical	Brahman et al., 2014
Mithi sub-district	Pakistan	0.09	11.60	3.64	122	Arid/Tropical	Rafique et al, 2008
Umarkot, Sindh Province	Pakistan	0.06	44.40	5.22	152	Arid/Tropical	Rafique et al, 2015
Karachi	Pakistan	0.60	3.64	-	106	Arid	Siddique et al., 2006
North region, Gaza Strip	Palestine	0.20	2.00	-	17	Semi-arid	Shomar et al., 2004
Gaza region, Gaza Strip Middle region, Gaza	Palestine	0.20	1.80	-	26	Semi-arid	Shomar, et al., 2004
Strip	Palestine	1.20	2.50	-	7	Semi-arid	Shomar et al., 2004
Rafah region, Gaza Strip	Palestine	0.80	1.30	-	7	Semi-arid	Shomar et al., 2004
Khan Yunis Gaza Strin	Palestine	0.30	6.45	2.87	20	Semi-arid	Abu Jabal et al., 2014
itilai i anis, Suza Suip	i ulostino	1.20	4.40	-	16	Semi-arid	Shomar et al., 2004
Gaza Strip	Palestine	0.20	4.40	1.39*	73	Semi-arid	Shomar et al., 2004
Al Ahsa Oasis	Saudi Arabia	0.80	3.00	1.31*	101	Arid	Al Zarah, 2011 Alabdulaaly et al
Al Baha region	Saudi Arabia	0.31	1.70	0.22	61	Arid	2013
	Saudi Arabia	0.10	1.10	-	20	Arid	Zabin et al, 2008
Al Jouf region	Saudi Arabia	0.44	3.00	0.66	34	Arid	Alabdulaaly et al., 2013
Al Asyah, Qassim region	Saudi Arabia	1.21	1.97	1.62	21	Arid	Loni et al., (2014)
Asir region	Saudi Arabia	0.29	0.88	0.12	87	Arid	Alabdulaaly, et al., 2013
Buraidah city, Qassim region	Saudi Arabia	0.29	0.37	0.35	17	Arid	Al-Salamah and Nassar, 2009
and Qassim)	Saudi Arabia	0.00	6.20	-	817	Arid	AlDosari et al., 2003
Eastern Dravince	Saudi Arabia	0.50	5.00	0 44	201	Arid	Alabdulaaly et al., 2013
Eastern Province	Saudi Arabia	0.50	1.80	-	121	Arid	Al Zarah 2007
	Suuur Thuona	0.20	1.00	1.00	12	1	Alabdulaaly, et al.,
Hail region	Saudi Arabia	0.30	4.00	1.02	43	Arid	2013
U		0.50	2.85	-	87	Arid	Akpata et al., 1997
		0.20	1.90	0.83	40	Arid	Al-Turki, 2009 Alabdulaaly et al
Jizan region	Saudi Arabia	0.60	1.10	0.08	57	Arid	2013 Alhababy and Al-
		0.00	1.30	0.31	23	Arid	Rajab, 2015
Makkah region	Saudi Arabia	0.25	1.70	0.18	85	Arid	Alabdulaaly et al., 2013
Madina region	Saudi Arabia	0.65	2.00	0.28	71	Arid	Alabdulaaly et al., 2013
region	Saudi Arabia	0.98	2.10	1.71	72	Arid	Zumlot et al., 2013
Najran region	Saudi Arabia	0.35	0.82	0.11	41	Arid	2013
Northern Boarders region	Saudi Arabia	0.80	2.40	0.35	41	Arid	Alabdulaaly et al.,

							2013
Qassim region	Saudi Arabia	0.10	5.40	1.01	108	Arid	Alabdulaaly et al., 2013
	Saudi Arabia	0.22	1.07	0.6	27	Arid	Al-Oud, 2004
Riyadh region	Saudi Arabia	0.12	4.90	0.69	200	Arid	Alabdulaaly et al., 2013
Tabouk region	Saudi Arabia	0.50	1.90	0.39	31	Arid	Alabdulaaly et al., 2013
Wadi Al-Hamad, Al Madinah region	Saudi Arabia	1.19	1.92	1.54	30	Arid	Alharbi et al., 2017
-	Somalia	1.00	4.80 600 0	-	81	Semi-arid/Arid Semi-	Faillace, 1998
Blue Nile Basin	Sudan	<1	0	18	162	arid/tropical	Hussein, 2004
Northern Provinces	Sudan	0.08	3.55	0.36	55	Arid	Ibrahim et al., 1995b
Omdurman Tiraat El Dijah	Sudan	0.00	1.80	0.9	92	Arid	Abdellah et al, 2013 Ramadan and
Khartoum state	Sudan	0.45	0.24	1.31	7	Arid	Ghandour, 2016 Ramadan and
Khartoum state	Sudan	1.29	1.43	1.36	4	Arid	Ghandour, 2016
-	Tunisia	0.00	2.40	-	100		Guissouma et al. 2017
South Gabes	Tunisia	0.38	3.78	2.08	-	Arid	Ketata et al., 2011
Ghannouch Aquifer	Tunisia	2.29	4.89	3.49	21	Semi-arid	Agoubi, 2016
Mersin Province	Turkey United Arab	0.10	1.30	-	193	Mediterranean	Güler et al., 2012
Al Ain Emirate	Emirates	0.05	5.54	1.93	48	Arid/Subtropical	Rizk, 2009
Ajman Emirate	Emirates	0.62	1.30	0.95	110	Arid/Subtropical	Rizk, 2009
Ras Al Khaimah Emirate	Emirates	0.03	2.13	0.69	61	Arid/Subtropical	Rizk, 2009
Fujairah Emirate	Emirates	0.12	0.85	0.33	49	Arid/Subtropical	Rizk, 2009
Abu Dhabi, UAE	Emirates	0.04	0.05	0.04	5	Arid/Subtropical	Walia et al., 2017
Ajman, UAE	Emirates	0.20	0.30	0.28	5	Arid/Subtropical	Walia et al., 2017
Dubai, UAE	Emirates	0.04	0.07	0.05	5	Arid/Subtropical	Walia et al., 2017
Sharjah, UAE	Emirates	0.30	0.07	0.17	5	Arid/Subtropical	Walia et al., 2017
Yemen Highland	Yemen	0.06	35.00	3.66	129	Arid	Al-Mikhlafi, 2010
Northwest Taiz city	Yemen	1.08	10.00	3.36	31	Arid	Al-Amry, 2009
Taiz city	Yemen	0.98	3.60	1.65	33	Arid	Aqeel et al., 2017

* Mean was calculated using data from the study



Figure 7.1. Highest fluoride concentrations reported in the region (modified from MappingOurWorld, 2016)

7.1 Egypt:

In Saint Katherine Protectorate, South Sinai, Egypt, water samples were collected from 19 wells to analyze the groundwater quality (Abdel-Azeem et al., 2009). People in the area consume 200 m³/d of water supplied by the groundwater. Major issues concerning the groundwater are contamination and water shortage. The area has an arid climate. The results show that fluoride ranged from 0.9-2.004 mg/L. Eighteen wells exceeded the Egypt Ministry of Health standard of 0.8 mg/L. Mild to severe dental fluorosis was observed in the area(Abdel-Azeem et al., 2009).

Furthermore, the Nile Valley is one of the oldest agricultural areas. The use of phosphate fertilizer is common in the valley and has increased since the construction of the Aswan High Dam in 1968 (Ahmed, 2014).

A study was conducted in Luxor, Egypt to assess the fluoride contamination in the area (Ahmed, 2014). Luxor has an arid climate. Thirty-three water samples were collected for fluoride analysis. Fluoride varied from 0.113-0.452 mg/L with an average of 0.242 mg/L. All of the water samples were below the WHO permissible limit. Moreover, Osman and Kloas (2010) collected eighteen sampling points from six sites along the Nile River to evaluate the water quality of the river. The results show that fluoride levels in the Nile River ranged from 0.28-0.37 mg/L. Moreover, assessment of the effect of domestic wastewater on groundwater sources was conducted in rural areas of Tahta city, Egypt (Easa and Abou-Rayan, 2010). Samples were collected in 1997, 2000, 2003,2006, and 2009. The fluoride concentrations ranged from 1.85-8.83 mg/L.

7.2 Eritrea and Somalia:

In Eritrea, water is scarce in rural areas (Srikanth et al., 2002). Majority of the population depend on groundwater. The climate of Eritrea is arid to semi-arid. Eight villages in Keran Town, Eritrea, where dental fluorosis was reported, were studied to analyze fluoride contamination of the groundwater (Srikanth et al., 2002). The results show that the maximum fluoride was 3.73 mg/L and the minimum was 0.68 mg/L. Temperatures are high in the area, which results in high consumption of water. In addition, majority of the inhabitants of these villages are malnourished and have low calcium diet; as a result, much of the fluoride consumed is retained (Srikanth et al., 2002). A nationwide study in Somalia was conducted to analyze

fluoride levels in groundwater sources (Faillace, 1998). Number of samples collected was 81 samples. Fluoride ranged from 1.0-4.8 mg/L.

7.3 Gaza Strip, Palestine:

The Gaza strip has a population of 850,00 people (Al-Agha, 1995). It is one of the most densely populated areas in the world (Baalousha, 2011). The climate in the Gaza Strip is semi-humid in the north and semi-arid in the south (Baalousha, 2011). Groundwater is the only water supply utilized for domestic, drinking, and agricultural purposes. In the early 1980s, Groundwater contamination in the strip became a public issue after authorities made notice of the problem (Al-Agha, 1995). The main potential source of contamination in the strip is from agricultural practices, which include heavy application of pesticides and fertilizers, and leakage from sewage treatment plants (Baalousha, 2011). In addition, seawater intrusion is another possible reason for contamination because the rate of groundwater extraction is higher than injection (Shomar et al., 2004).

Shomar et al. (2004) conducted a study in the Gaza Strip to assess fluoride contamination in the area. Samples were collected from 73 wells: 17 wells in the North region, 26 in Gaza, 8 in the Middle region, 15 in Khan Yunis, and 7 in Rafah. The minimum fluoride concentration was 0.2 mg/L, observed in the North region. The maximum fluoride concentration was 4.4 mg/L. The maximum concentration was observed in Khan Yunis, where dental fluorosis is a problem. Major fluoride-bearing minerals that exist in the area include topaz, fluorite, fluoroapatite, and cryolite (Shomar et al., 2004). A study was conducted to assess fluoride enrichment in groundwater of Khan Yunis (Abu Jabal et al., 2014). Samples were collected from 20 wells. The results show that fluoride ranged from 0.3-6.45 mg/L with an average of 2.87 mg/L. Samples higher than 1.5 mg/L were 78.5% of the samples. Fluoride-bearing minerals and phosphate mining are possible sources of fluoride in the area (Abu Jabal et al., 2014). In addition, the results show that fluoride is positively correlated with sodium and sulphate and negatively correlated with calcium, nitrate, and magnesium

7.4 Iran:

Dashtestan is located in Bushehr Province, southwestern Iran. The weather in the area is characterized by hot and dry summers (Dobaradaran et al., 2008). Fourteen villages in the area were selected for fluoride analysis (Dobaradaran et al., 2008). Fluoride in Dashtestan varied from 0.99-2.50 mg/L. Another evaluation of fluoride sources in Dashtestan was conducted (Battaleb-Looie et al., 2012). A total of 35 samples were collected from springs, wells, and rivers. The average fluoride concentration was 1.74 mg/L, ranging from 0.76-4.35 mg/L. Samples that were above the WHO maximum permissible limit were 62.85%. Marl formations in the area are the most probable source of fluoride in the area (Battaleb-Looie et al., 2012).

A study was conducted in Maku area, north of West Azerbaijan Province, to assess the fluoride contamination in the area (Asghari Moghaddam and Fijani, 2008). The analysis shows that fluoride varied from 0.3-5.96 mg/L. The area is covered with basaltic lavas, which is the possible source of fluoride (Asghari Moghaddam and Fijani, 2008). The basaltic wells in the study exceeded the permissible limit of 1.5 mg/L, but the non-basaltic wells were within the acceptable range. In addition, fluoride is the area correlated with high sodium, bicarbonate, and pH. In Mianeh city, fifty-six samples were collected from 25 wells for fluoride analysis (Davil et al., 2012). Samples were collected throughout the seasons. The results show that fluoride ranged from 0.19 mg/L in spring to 0.73 mg/L in summer with a mean annual concentration of 0.41 mg/L (Davil et al., 2012).

Furthermore, a study was conducted in Khaf city, Razavi Khorasan Province. Sixty-two samples were collected from 32 water sources for fluoride analysis (Amouei et al., 2012). Fluoride ranged from 0.11-3.59 mg/L. The mean concentration was 0.88 mg/L. Samples that were within the optimum range were 65%. A nation wide study was conducted to evaluate fluoride concentration in urban areas of Iran (Mesdaghinia et al., 2010). Water samples were collected from 5,314 sampling sites. The results show that national mean fluoride concentration was 0.47 mg/L. Twenty-one provinces of Iran had a mean fluoride concentration lower than 0.5 mg/L. However, the mean of Bushehr Province was 1.86 mg/L, which is higher than the WHO permissible limit of 1.5 mg/L. Highest fluoride concentration was reported in Maku City, where volcanic rocks are present throughout the area (Mesdaghinia et al., 2010).

Moreover, Nouri et al. (2006) conducted a study in Khuzestan County and collected samples from forty-two wells for fluoride analysis. Fluoride in the area ranged from 0.12-2.17 mg/L. The average fluoride concentration was 0.6 mg/L. A study was conducted in Muteh area north of Isfahan province to assess fluoride toxicity in the area (Keshavarzi et al., 2010). Groundwater and tap water samples were collected from 47 stations. Fluoride concentrations ranged from 0.2-9.2 mg/L. The maximum fluoride level was observed in granite rocks. In addition, the results show that fluoride has a positive correlation with bicarbonate and sodium, and negative correlation with calcium.

In Hamadan province, a total of 192 wells were sampled to evaluate fluoride levels in the groundwater (Rafati et al., 2013). Samples were collected during dry and wet months. The results show that the fluoride concentrations ranged from 0-1.78 mg/L, where 51% of the samples were within acceptable levels. Another study was conducted in Hamadan province (Leili et al., 2015). A total of 508 samples, collected from rural and urban areas, were analyzed to evaluate the

drinking quality in the area. The average fluoride concentration was 0.58 mg/L, ranging from 0-4.54 mg/L (Leili et al., 2015). Rezaei et al. conducted a study in Lar, Fars province to assess the source of fluoride contamination of the groundwater sources in the area. Climate in south Iran is arid and semiarid. Groundwater is the main source of water for potable and agricultural use (Rezaei et al., 2017). A total of 17 wells were collected for fluoride analysis. The mean fluoride concentration was 1.85 mg/L, ranging from 0.59-3.92 mg/L. High fluoride levels were observed in the eastern parts of the study area.

Assessment of fluoride occurrence in groundwater was conducted in southeast Bushehr province (Battaleb-Looie et al., 2013). Twenty-seven samples were collected. Fluoride levels in the samples ranged from 0.4-3.0 mg/L. The fluoride levels in 44% of the samples were higher than 1.5 mg/L. A study was conducted in Tabasein Plain Eastern Iran to assess the groundwater quality (Boskabady et al., 2016). Twenty-two samples were collected, which include spring, well, and river samples. The fluoride concentration ranged from 0.64-1.71 mg/L. Dental fluorosis was reported in the area, which could be due high water consumption (Boskabady et al., 2016).

7.5 Kuwait and United Arab Emirates (UAE):

Tap water samples were collected from 99 locations in the six governorates of Kuwait to analyze the water quality (Al-Mudhaf et al., 2011). Fluoride was detected in 85.2% of the samples. The analysis shows that the mean fluoride concentration in Kuwait is 0.2 mg/L. The maximum fluoride level observed was 0.7 mg/L.

Moreover, a study was done in four emirates in the UAE (Walia et al., 2017). Emirates included in the study were Ajman, Sharjah, Abu Dhabi, and Dubai. Five tap water samples were collected from each emirate. The mean fluoride concentrations were 0.04, 0.05, 0.17, and 0.28
mg/L for Abu Dhabi, Dubai, Sharjah, Ajman, respectively. Rizk (2009) collected a total of 365 groundwater samples to evaluate the quality of domestic water in the UAE (Rizk, 2009). Emirates included in the study were Al Ain, Ajman, Ras Al Khaimah, Fujairah, and Sharjah. Fluoride levels ranged from 0.03-5.54 mg/L with an average of 0.98 mg/L. Fluoride was not detected in Sharjah Emirate. The maximum fluoride concentration was observed in Al Ain Emirate, and the minimum fluoride concentration was observed in Ras Al Khaimah Emirate.

7.6 Levant Region and Iraq:

Drinking water quality in Iraq has deteriorated since the US-Iraq war (Barbooti et al., 2010). A study was conducted along the Tigris River in Iraq to assess the water quality (Kadhem, 2013). Eight locations along the river were sampled for analysis. Fluoride levels in the river were below 0.5 mg/L. Furthermore, Alsudani et al. (2009) analyzed drinking water quality in Baghdad, Iraq. The results show that fluoride concentrations in drinking water of Baghdad were below 0.5 mg/L, which are similar to other studies (Alsudani et al., 2009). Forty surface and drinking water samples were collected from Kirkuk city, Iraq for fluoride evaluation (Ali and Abdulrahman, 2016). The average fluoride concentrations of the surface and drinking water samples were 0.0451 and 0.102 mg/L, respectively. Although the water quality has deteriorated since the war, reports show that there is no risk of fluoride contamination in many regions of Iraq.

A study was conducted in North Jordan to evaluate fluoride concentrations in water (Abu Rukah and Alsokhny, 2004). Samples were collected from 22 locations. Fluoride concentrations varied between 0.009-0.055 mg/L. Also, the results show that fluoride had a positive correlation with pH, bicarbonate, chloride, sodium, and magnesium and negative correlation with calcium. Twelve water samples were collected from wells and springs in Al-Souidaa County, Syria to

evaluate the groundwater quality (Alhassanieh et al., 2001). Mean fluoride concentration was 1.06 mg/L.

7.7 North Africa:

A study was conducted in four districts south of Algeria: Ouargla, El-Oued, Biskra, and Ghardaïa (Messaïtfa, 2008). The fluoride varied from 0.4-2.3 mg/L, where 62% of the samples were lower than the WHO permissible limit, and 38% were higher than the limit. A study was conducted in Algainate, Libya to assesse the fluoride levels in the groundwater (Elmabrok, 2015). Sixty-five groundwater samples were collected from 26 villages around the city. The fluoride concentration ranged from 0.8-3.2 mg/L with an average of 2.04 mg/L. Samples above the WHO permissible limit of 1.5 mg/L were 86.15%. Fluoride showed positive correlation with sulphate, chloride, sodium, and calcium; in addition, it showed negative correlation with magnesium (Elmabrok, 2015). Furthermore, analysis of groundwater quality was conducted in northeast Libya (Nair et al., 2006). People in the area rely on groundwater for domestic, drinking, and agricultural use. Samples were collected form six locations. The results show that fluoride levels were within the desirable limits, and the calcium and magnesium contents of the groundwater were high.

First outbreaks of fluoride toxicity in Tunisia occurred in the 1990s (Guissouma et al., 2017). Tap water samples were collected from the 24 regions of Tunisia for fluoride analysis (Guissouma et al., 2017). The results of analysis showed that the fluoride concentration ranged from 0.05-2.40 mg/L. The southern parts of the country are prone to high fluoride exposure. The people at risk of dental fluorosis were 25% of the country's population (Guissouma et al., 2017). A study was done in major aquifers of the northern Gabes, located in southeastern Tunisia, to assess the groundwater quality (Alaya et al., 2014). Water samples were collected from 54 wells.

Fluoride concentration ranged from 0.55-2.84 mg/L. Another study was conducted in southeastern Tunisia to evaluate groundwater quality (Ketata et al., 2011). The study area involves the deep aquifers of south Gabes. Nine boreholes were selected, where 2-3 samples were collected per year during summer and winter. The study period was from 1995-2003. The results show that the average fluoride concentration was 2.08 mg/L, ranging from 0.38-3.78 mg/L. Limestone and marno-gypsum formations in the area are possible sources of fluoride (Ketata et al., 2011). A study was conducted to assess the effect of phosphate industry in southeastern Tunisia (Agoubi, 2016). Twenty-one groundwater samples were collected from the Ghannouch aquifer. The fluoride concentrations ranged from 2.29-4.89 mg/L. Possible source of fluoride in the area include fluoride-bearing minerals, agricultural activities, and industrial activities, mostly from phosphate industries (Agoubi, 2016). High fluoride levels in the area were characterized by low calcium and magnesium.

Furthermore, evaluation of fluoride concentrations in tap waters was conducted in thirteen cities of Morocco (El Jaoudi et al., 2012). Three drinking water samples were collected from each locality. Fluoride ranged from 0.21-2.97 mg/L. The maximum fluoride concentration was observed in Khouribga. The fluoride concentration of 23.3% of the samples were above the WHO's maximum permissible limit. A total of 83 water samples were collected to evaluate the groundwater quality in Bahira plain, Morocco (Karroum et al., 2017). The samples include groundwater and surface water sources. The results show that the fluoride concentrations ranged form 0-3.21 mg/L. Fluoroapatite is the principal of fluoride in the area (Karroum et al., 2017). **7.8 Oman:**

In Dhofar governorate, South Oman, a study was done to evaluate the groundwater quality (Al-Mashaikhi et al., 2012). Sixty-five samples were collected from four aquifers. The

mean fluoride concentrations in the aquifers were approximately 3.61, 5.32, 7.98, and 8.36 mg/L. A study was conducted in Al Musanaah State to assess the chemical composition of the groundwater (Askri, 2015). The area is characterized by dry climate and high evapotranspiration rates. A total of 58 groundwater samples were collected. The fluoride concentrations varied from 0.65-12.18 mg/L. The high fluoride levels in the coastal parts were possibly due to seawater intrusion (Askri, 2015). Samples that were higher than 1.5 mg/L were 48%. Assessment of groundwater quality was conducted in A-Buraimi (Zidi et al., 2017). A total of 21 groundwater samples were collected. The fluoride levels varied from 0-0.1 mg/L.

7.9 Pakistan:

Punjab has the largest agricultural area and accounts for the highest consumption of fertilizers (Farooqi et al., 2009). In 1999, the annual consumption of fertilizer in Punjab was 2824 thousand metric tons (Farooqi et al., 2007b). Groundwater pollution was officially noted in Kalalanwala, Kasur district, Pakistan in July 2000, when a newspaper reported a bone deformity disease among residents (Farooqi et al., 2007a). Some people believed that the disease was associated with arsenic toxicity; however, the symptoms correlated with fluorosis. Farooqi et al. (2007a) conducted a study in Punjab province to assess the occurrence of high fluoride groundwater in the area. The climate in the region is semiarid and subtropical. Twenty-four groundwater samples were collected. The mean fluoride concentration in the area was 11.0 mg/L, ranging from 0.95-21.1 mg/L. All shallow groundwater wells contained fluoride levels higher than 1.5 mg/L (Farooqi et al., 2007a). Fluoride-rich groundwater in the area was characterized by high sodium and bicarbonates; also, it had low calcium and magnesium. Another study was conducted in Punjab by Farooqi et al. (2007b). The study area includes areas from Kasur and Lahore districts and includes 17 villages surrounding Kalalanwala. Residents in

the area use groundwater for daily use. The number of groundwater samples collected was 147 samples. In addition, fluoride concentrations in fertilizers and coal were determined. The results show that fluoride ranged from 0.24-22.8 mg/L (Farooqi et al., 2007b). Highest fluoride levels were observed in shallow wells. Shallow wells exceeding the permissible limit were 75% while all deep wells were within the acceptable range. The average soluble fluoride concentration in the fertilizer was 175 mg/kg, ranging from 60-255 mg/kg. The average total fluoride in coal was 10.2 mg/kg. The high concentration of fluoride in fertilizers and coal could explain the occurrence of high fluoride in the area. (Farooqi et al., 2007b).

Thar Desert is located in southeastern Sindh province. The population in the area depends on groundwater and stored rainwater for drinking, domestic, and agricultural use (Brahman et al., 2014). Thar Desert is facing a water crisis. Most of the water exists at 52-93 m depths, which is highly contaminated with constituents such as fluoride (Rafique et al., 2008). An assessment of fluoride occurrence in Nagar Parkar, which is located in the Thar Desert, was conducted (Rafique et al., 2009). Thirty-two groundwater samples were collected for fluoride analysis. The fluoride concentration varied from 1.13-7.85 mg/L with a mean of 3.33 mg/L. The authors suggest that the possible occurrence of high fluoride in the area is due to the excess concentration of sodium and bicarbonate. High total dissolved solids (TDS) were observed in the area, which can enhance the solubility of fluoride (Rafique et al., 2009). In addition, the results show that wells deeper than 100 feet had elevated fluoride levels. Majority of the samples were undersaturated with respect to fluorite and supersaturated with calcite. This suggests that fluorite dissolution is influenced by calcite precipitation (Rafique et al., 2009). Also, fluoride showed no significant correlation with temperature. Another study was conducted in Nagar Parkar to assess

the effect of fluoride in the area (Brahman et al., 2014). Nine sampling site were selected for sampling. Fluoride levels in the area varied from 19.5-35.4 mg/L.

Assessment of fluoride contamination in groundwater sources in Mithi, a sub-district in the middle of Thar Desert, was conducted (Rafique et al., 2008). The area has a tropical desert climate. A total of 122 groundwater samples were collected. Fluoride levels ranged from 0.09-11.60 mg/L with a mean of 3.64 mg/L. A total of 88.4% of the wells exceeded 1.5 mg/L F. The results show that fluoride is positively correlated with sodium and bicarbonate and negatively correlated with calcium. The absence of calcium through Calcite precipitation enhances the solubility of fluorite present in granite rocks, which as result increases fluoride concentration in groundwater (Rafique et al., 2008). Furthermore, Rafique et al. (2015) sampled 152 groundwater wells in Umarkot, Sindh Province. The study area is also located in the Thar Desert. The results show that the mean fluoride concentration was 5.22 mg/L, ranging from 0.06-44.40 mg/L. The fluoride content of 84.21% of the samples exceeded the 1.5 mg/L. Possible sources of fluoride in the area are fluoride-bearing minerals such as fluorite and fluorapatite. In addition, sodium-rich groundwater increases the ionic strength of water, which enhances the dissolution of fluoride by decreasing the calcium concentration (Rafique et al., 2015).

A study was done in Naranji, northeast of Peshawar to evaluate the potential of fluoride contamination (Shah and Danishwar, 2003). Naranji has a population of 5,000 and uses spring waters for potable use. The area has granite rocks, containing feldspar, biotite and apatite. Four spring water samples were collected for fluoride measurement. The fluoride concentrations varied from 13.34-13.52 mg/L (Shah and Danishwar, 2003).

Karachi, a major city in the north, is experiencing population and industrial growth which is increasing the demand for clean potable water (Siddique et al., 2006). The population of the

city is 14 million. Siddique et al (2006) evaluated the fluoride concentration in Karachi drinking water. A total of 106 water samples were collected for analysis. Fluoride in the area ranged from 0.60-3.64 mg/L. The maximum fluoride concentration was observed near Pakistan Steel Mills, which is the possible source of elevated fluorides in the area.

7.10 Saudi Arabia:

Saudi Arabia is an arid country. It occupies 70% of the Arabian Peninsula. Groundwater sources make up 80% of the potable water supplies in the country (Loni et al., 2014). Plus, groundwater sources are expected to deplete due the high extraction rates (Loni et al., 2014). In addition, high evapotranspiration rates, low rainfall, and reduced soil moisture have adverse effects on water availability in Saudi Arabia (Alharbi et al., 2017).

A nationwide study was conducted to evaluate the occurrence of fluoride in groundwater sources of Saudi Arabia (Alabdulaaly et al., 2013). A total of 1060 wells were sampled for fluoride. The results show that fluoride ranged from 0.10-5.40 mg/L. The national average concentration was 1.01 mg/L. The maximum fluoride concentration was observed in Al-Qassim region, where 21% of the samples were above 1.5 mg/L. In Northern Boarders region, fluoride ranged from 0.80-2.40 mg/L, yet 85% of the samples were above the WHO permissible limit. In Hail region, the maximum fluoride concentration was 4.00 mg/L; also, the samples that were above the WHO standard were 30%. In addition, the results show that fluoride had positive correlation with calcium, sulphate, sodium, and magnesium; also, it showed negative correlation with depth (Alabdulaaly et al., 2013).

Moreover, samples were collected from 87 wells, used for domestic use, in Hail Province for fluoride analysis (Akpata et al., 1997). The fluoride concentration ranged from 0.543-2.848 mg/L. Another study in Hail was conducted to assess the occurrence of fluoride in groundwater (Al-Turki, 2009). A total of 40 wells were sampled. Fluoride concentration ranged from 0.2-1.9 mg/L. Samples above the Saudi Standards of 1 mg/L were 22.5%.

A study was conducted to evaluate fluoride levels in drinking water supplies in Riyadh (Alabdulaaly, 1997). Twenty-one wells, which include deep and shallow wells, were sampled; also, a total of 87 samples were collected from Riyadh's distribution network. The maximum fluoride concentrations in shallow and deep wells were 1.3 and 1.8 mg/L, respectively. The fluoride concentration in Riyadh's distribution network ranged from 0.01-0.50 mg/L with a mean of 0.12 mg/L. Moreover, a study was done in Al-Baha to assess the risk of fluoride contamination (Zabin et al., 2008). Al-Baha has 500,00 residents, where all residents depend on domestic wells for potable and non-potable uses. Twenty water samples were collected for fluoride analysis. The results show that fluoride varied between 0.1-1.1 mg/L (Zabin et al., 2008).

Al Asyah area in Al-Qassim is an agricultural area. Loni et al. (2014) conducted a study to evaluate the groundwater quality in the area. Twenty-one groundwater samples were collected from agricultural farms in Al Asyah. Fluoride concentration in the area ranged from 1.21-1.97 mg/L with an average of 1.62 mg/L. Another study was done in Al-Qassim to assess the groundwater quality (Al-Salamah and Nassar, 2009). Wells selected for this study were distributed throughout Buraidah city. Water samples were collected from 17 wells. The average fluoride was 0.35 mg/L, ranging from 0.29-0.37 mg/L. A total of 817 samples were collected from 260 locations to evaluate fluoride levels in drinking waters of Riyadh and Al Qassim province (AlDosari et al., 2003). The fluoride levels varied from 0.00-6.20 mg/L. The maximum fluoride concentration was observed at Al-Madnab, Al Qassim. Residents of Al Qassim are more exposed to fluoride levels higher than 0.8 mg/L than Residents in Riyadh. Another study was

conducted in Al Qassim region to assess the fluoride content of groundwater in the area (Al-Oud, 2004). Water samples were collected from 27 wells, used for domestic and agricultural uses. In addition, a total of 87 samples of municipal water were collected. The mean fluoride concentration ranged from 0.22-1.07 mg/L with an average of 0.6 mg/L. For municipal waters, the mean fluoride concentration was 0.45 mg/L, ranging from 0.16-1.54 mg/L.

Furthermore, Twenty-three wells were sampled to evaluate the quality of groundwater in Jizan (Alhababy and Al-Rajab, 2015). The average fluoride concentration was 0.31 mg/L, ranging from 0-1.30 mg/L. An assessment of groundwater quality was conducted in Wadi Al-Hamad in Al-Madinah Province (Alharbi et al., 2017). Thirty wells were sampled for analysis. Fluoride concentration ranged from 1.19-1.92 mg/L. The mean fluoride concentration was 1.54 mg/L. The aquifer was oversaturated with calcite and dolomite and undersaturated with fluorite. A study was conducted in Al Madinah Al Munawarah city to characterize the groundwater quality (El Maghraby, 2015). The area contains basaltic lava flows and granite rocks and has an arid climate. Samples were collected from 33 wells. The results show that all samples were below the WHO permissible limit of 1.5 mg/L. Zumlot et al. (2013) conducted a study in Midyan Basin, west of Tabouk province, to evaluate groundwater contamination. Industries present in the area include brick, ceramic, and asphalt manufacturing companies. A total of 72 water samples were collected. The results show the mean fluoride concentration was 1.71 mg/L, ranging from 0.98-2.10 mg/L.

An evaluation of the groundwater quality was conducted in different locations in the Eastern Province (Al-Zarah, 2007). Cities included in the study were Al-Ahsa, Al-Khobar, Al-Dammam, and Al-Qatif. A total of 121 groundwater samples were collected. The results show that fluoride concentrations in the area ranged from 0.5-1.8 mg/L. In addition, the groundwater

samples were undersaturated with respect to fluorite. A study was conducted in Al-Ahsa oasis to assess the chemical composition of groundwater and spring waters (Al-Zarah, 2011). Al-Ahsa oasis is the oldest in the Arabian Peninsula. A total of 101 groundwater samples were collected. The fluoride concentration ranged from 0.8-3.0 mg/L. Also, the wells were undersaturated with fluorite, which could explain the occurrence of fluoride in the oasis (Al-Zarah, 2011).

7.11 Sudan:

Two communities in Khartoum state were selected to evaluate fluoride levels in drinking water (Ramadan and Ghandour, 2016). The two communities included in the study were Um Duwanban and Tiraat El-Bijah. Water samples were collected from 4 wells in Um Duwanban and 7 wells from Tiraat El-Bijah. Fluoride ranged from 1.29-1.43 mg/L with an average of 1.36 mg/L in Um Duwanban. In Tiraat El-Bijah, the mean fluoride concentration was 0.45 mg/L, ranging from 0.24-1.31 mg/L. Furthermore, a study was conducted in the Blue Nile Basin, East of Sudan to assess the groundwater quality (Hussein, 2004). Samples were collected from 162 wells. The results show that the average fluoride concentration was 18 mg/L, ranging from <1-600 mg/L. In Omdurman, a total of 92 samples were collected to evaluate the groundwater quality (Abdellah et al, 2013). Fluoride ranged from 0-1.8 mg/L, where 80% of the samples were below 1.5 mg/L. Ibrahim et al. (1995b) conducted a study to evaluate fluoride concentration of groundwater sources in different areas of Sudan. Areas included in the study are Gezira area, Kordufan area, Northern area, Red Sea area, and Khartoum area. A total of 55 groundwater samples were collected. The overall average fluoride concentration was 0.34 mg/L, ranging 0.08-3.55 mg/L. The maximum fluoride level was observed in Khartoum area.

7.12 Turkey:

A study was done in Mersin province, southeastern Turkey to assess the effects of anthropogenic sources on groundwater quality in the area (Güler et al., 2012). Agricultural lands occupy 84% of the area. A total of 193 wells were sampled for analysis. Fluoride ranged from 0.1-1.3 mg/L. Tokalioglu et al. (2001) conducted a study in Kayseri province to evaluate fluoride concentrations in the area. Fourteen different locations were sampled. All samples were below 0.80 mg/L. Evaluation of groundwater quality was conducted in West Thrace region (Özler and Aydin, 2008). A total of 40 groundwater samples were collected. The mean fluoride concentrations in the area were below 0.5 mg/L.

7.13 Yemen:

A study was conducted in the Yemen Highland to analyze the groundwater quality of the area (Al-Mikhlafi, 2010). The Yemen Highland is a volcanic region; also, the area has an arid and semi arid climate. Samples were collected from 129 wells. Fluoride levels ranged from 0.06-35 mg/L with a mean of 3.66 mg/L. Wells exceeding 1.5 and 3 mg/L were 77% and 41% of the wells. Fluoride in the area is associated with volcanic rocks, geothermal fluids, and granite rocks Moreover, assessment of fluoride contamination of groundwater sources in Hidhran and Alburayhi Basins, located northwest Taiz city, was conducted (Al-Amry, 2009). Thirty-one wells were sampled for fluoride measurement. The results show that the mean fluoride concentration was 3.36 mg/L, ranging from 1.08-10.00 mg/L. Twenty-six samples (83.9%) were above 1.5 mg/L. Aqeel et al. (2017) conducted a study in Taiz city to evaluate the occurrence of fluoride in groundwater. Howban aquifer is the main source of water in Taiz city. Thirty-three samples were collected for fluoride measurement. The results show that the mean fluoride concentration was 1.65 mg/L, ranging from 0.98-3.6 mg/L. All of the samples were undersaturated with respect to

fluorite. Most of the samples were oversaturated with calcite. The occurrence of high fluoride levels in the area is possibly due to the precipitation of calcite at high pH (Aqeel et al., 2017). In addition, dental fluorosis was detected in the area.

8. Fluoride in Food and Beverages:

Reports show that food and beverages that are domestically and commercially prepared in areas with optimally fluoridated water supplies typically have higher fluoride content than negligibly fluoridated areas (Clovis and Hargreaves, 1988; Jackson et al., 2002). Jackson et al. (2002) found that food prepared in Richmond, Virginia, an optimally fluoridated area, contained higher fluoride concentrations than in Connersville, Indiana, a negligibly fluoridated area. Increased consumption of soft drinks and juices prepared with fluoridated water may be a significant source of fluoride intake among children (Kiritsy et al., 1996).

Leafy vegetables may uptake airborne fluoride. Fluoride has the tendency to accumulate in the vegetables' leaves (Yadav et al., 2012). In addition, increased industrial activities emit fluoride and other pollutants that can affect the physiological, biochemical and nutritional traits of cultivated crops (Zouari et al., 2014). Some plants such as spinach can restrict the transport of fluoride from the roots (Jha et al., 2008). Moreover, aquatic animals can contain fluoride concentrations proportional to fluoride levels in their environment (Sigler and Neuhold, 1972). This chapter discusses the fluoride content of different foods and beverages.

8.1 Fluoride in Food:

Rugg-Gunn and Zohouri (1999) conducted a study in Fars Province, Iran to investigate the fluoride content of various types of foods and beverages. Some of the food grown in the area is exported to other Middle Eastern countries. A total of 84 types of foods and drinks were collected from low, moderate, and high fluoride areas. The fluoride concentrations in the water

in the low, moderate and high fluoride areas were 0.32, 0.58, and 4.05 mg/L respectively. The results show that the mean concentration of fluoride in foods grown in these areas was below 1.0 mg/kg for most items. Fruits had the lowest fluoride content. Leafy vegetables had higher fluoride concentrations than root vegetables. Tea had the highest fluoride content among beverages. For all foods and drinks, the fluoride content increased by increasing the fluoride concentration in the water (Rugg-Gunn and Zohouri, 1999). At higher fluoride levels, cooked items had higher fluoride concentrations.

Another study was conducted in Iran to evaluate the fluoride content of different food items (Poureslami et al., 2008). The food samples were collected from Koohbanan, Iran. The fluoride concentration of the water in the area ranged from 2.36-3.10 mg/L. The fluoride content of lamb/beef and chicken ranged from 0.07-0.23 and 0.13-0.25 mg/kg, respectively. Also, the results show that the fluoride content of vegetables ranged from 3.93-8.85 mg/kg. Furthermore, Chavoshi et al. (2011) evaluated the fluoride concentration of different foods in Isfahan Province, Iran. The items were collected from 25 stations in the area. The average fluoride concentration in water was 0.3 mg/L. The fluoride content ranged from 0.5 mg/kg in carrots to 2.6 mg/kg in maize. Wheat, tomato and onions contained 2.8, 1.8, and 1.3 mg/kg fluoride, respectively. The sources of fluoride emissions in the area are thought to be from petroleum refineries and steel factories (Chavoshi et al., 2011). In southern Algeria, the measured fluoride content of dates was 2.9 mg/kg (Messaïtfa, 2008). In Bushehr Province, Iran, the fluoride content of dates ranged from 6.0-19.0 mg/kg with an average of 10.0 mg/kg (Battaleb-Looie et al., 2013). Furthermore, the fluoride content of vegetables in Elementaita Lake, Kenya ranged from 7.9-296 mg/kg (Kahama et al., 1997).

Jha et al. (2009) assessed the effect of different doses of sodium fluoride (NaF) on onions (*Allium cepa L.*). The results show that a dose of 400 mg NaF/kg and above exhibited symptoms of fluoride toxicity in onions. Onion bulbs accumulated less fluoride than the roots and shoots, which suggest that onion bulbs have dilution effects, decreasing the accumulation of fluoride (Jha et al., 2009). Olive trees are one of the most important commercially valuable crops in the Middle East (Zouari et al., 2014). A study was conducted on Olive trees to assess the effect of fluoride (Zouari et al., 2014). Visual symptoms of fluoride toxicity were observed on olive leaves subjected to 80 and 100 mM NaF. Although the olive's biomass decreased upon adding NaF, fruit production was maintained, which suggests that olive trees have partitioning mechanisms to limit the transport of fluoride (Zouari et al., 2014).

A study in 10 villages in India was conducted to evaluate the fluoride content of foods grown in areas that are irrigated with different fluoride concentrations (Bhargava and Bhardwaj, 2009). The fluoride concentration ranged form 1.5-11.82 mg/L. The fluoride content in vegetables and cereals ranged from 3.91 to 29.15 mg/kg and 0.45 to 5.98 mg/kg, respectively. In addition, leafy vegetables contained the highest fluoride content (Bhargava and Bhardwaj, 2009).

8.2. Fluoride in Beverages:

Waila et al. (2017) measured the fluoride concentration of different commercially available beverages in the UAE. The beverages examined included soft drinks, juices, and milk. The fluoride concentration in these beverages ranged from 0.04-0.1 mg/L. Fluoride in human milk is typically low (Larsen et al., 1987). However, consumption of powdered milk and formula can expose children to high intake of fluoride during the first 36 months (Larsen et al., 1988; Levy et al., 2010). The fluoride concentration of 73 cow milk samples collected from different localities in Elementaita Lake, Kenya ranged from 0.04-0.34 mg/L (Kahama et al., 1997).

Furthermore, a total of 283 bottled beverages consumed in Mexico City, Mexico were tested for fluoride (Jiménez-Farfán et al., 2004). The fluoride content of juices and carbonated drinks ranged from 0.07-1.42 and 0.09-1.70 mg/L, respectively. White/red grape juices had the highest fluoride concentration among the juice samples while carbonated fruit drinks had the highest fluoride content in carbonated drinks (Jiménez-Farfán et al., 2004). Kiritsy et al. (1996) assessed the fluoride levels in different juices sold in Iowa City, Iowa. A total of 532 juices were collected from local supermarkets. The percent of juices with fluoride concentrations below 0.3 mg/L and above 1.00 mg/L were 48% and 19%, respectively (Kiritsy et al., 1996). In this study, White grape juices also had the highest fluoride content among other juice samples. In addition, the fluoride content of the juices varied depending on the manufactures' site. Lower fluoride concentrations were observed in juices manufactured in non-fluoridated sites (Kiritsy et al., 1996). In North Carolina, A total of 280 beverages were collected from local markets to determine the fluoride concentrations (Pang e al., 1992). The fluoride content of the beverages varied from <0.1-6.7 mg/L. The highest fluoride level was observed in tea. Moreover, three species of coffee (Arabica, robusta, and green beans) were analyzed for fluoride (Wolska et al., 2017). The results show that the fluoride content was highest in coffees made from green beans. In addition, the fluoride concentration in coffee beverages depends on the brewing conditions (Wolska et al., 2017).

8.2.1 Fluoride in Water Bottles:

In many countries, the consumption of bottled water has increased over the years because of rising concerns on the quality of natural water supplies (Aldress and Al-Manea, 2010). Bottled water consumption doubled between 2003 and 2008 in the Middle East (Walia et al., 2017). Samadi et al. (2009) showed that the fluoride concentration in bottled waters sold in Hamada,

Iran ranged from 0.12-0.54 mg/L. In Bushehr, Iran, fluoride concentration in water bottles varied between 0.07-0.31 mg/L (Nabipour and Dobaradaran, 2013). In Kuwait, A total of 71 brands of bottled waters, which include local and imported brands, were analyzed to evaluate their mineral content (Al-Mudhaf et al., 2011). The mean fluoride concentration was 0.6 mg/L, ranging from 0.05-1.3 mg/L. The fluoride content of 70 brands manufactured in Turkey ranged from 0-0.69 mg/L (Güler and Alpaslan, 2009). Furthermore, a total of 23 brands of water bottles available in UAE markets were analyzed for fluoride (Abouleish, 2016). The brands include domestic and imported bottles. All of the water bottles contained fluoride levels below 1.5 mg/L except for one brand. The brand exceeding 1.5 mg/L was locally produced and contained a mean fluoride concentration of 4.14 mg/L, ranging from 3.84-4.50 mg/L (Abouleish, 2016). In Saudi Arabia, the fluoride content of 12 local brands of bottled water available in Saudi Arabia ranged from 0.502-0.832 mg/L with a mean of 0.669 mg/L (Aldress and Al-Manea, 2010). Another study in Saudi Arabia was conducted to assesse the accuracy of the label content of 21 brands that are locally produced (Khan and Chohan, 2010). The fluoride content ranged from 0.69-1.1 mg/L. The percent of water bottles that contained fluoride levels higher than 0.7 mg/L was approximately 90%. Moreover, A study was conducted on 32 brands of bottled waters sold in Doha, Qatar to measure the fluoride content (Almulla et al., 2016). The water bottles involved in the study include domestic and international brands. The fluoride levels ranged from 0.06-3.0 mg/L with a mean of 0.8 mg/L. Table 8.1 shows the fluoride content of different water bottle brands sold in the Middle East and around the world.

Table 8. 1. Label and measured fluoride values of water bottles sold in the Middle East and the around world

		Label value	Measured	
Brand	Country	(mg/L)	Value(mg/L)	Reference
President's Choice	Canada	4.3	4.8	Weinberger, 1991
Montclair	Canada	1	1.2	Weinberger, 1991

Spring Aqua	Finland	NM	0.08	Walia et al., 2017
Evian	France	0.6	0.653	Jeri, 2016
Badiot	France	1.2	1.174	Jeri, 2016
Volvic	France	NM	0.646	Aldress and Al-Manea, 2010
Apollinaris	Germany	0.59	0.73	Weinberger, 1991
Oxab	Iran	0.1	0.124	Jeri, 2016
Al-Waha	Iraq	NM	0.079	Jeri, 2016
Al-Khalij	Iraq	NM	0.043	Jeri, 2016
Barakat	Iraq	NM	0.044	Jeri, 2016
Acqua Panna	Italy	< 0.1	0.070	Walia et al., 2017
Aquafina	Kuwait	NM	0.333	Jeri, 2016
Tannourine	Lebanon	< 0.2	0.694	Aldress and Al-Manea, 2010
Rim	Lebanon	0.1	0.4	Almulla et al., 2016
Sannine	Lebanon	0.25	0.28	Almulla et al., 2016
Cool Blue	New Zealand	0.2	0.090	Walia et al., 2017
Al-Manhal	Qatar	0.9	0.77	Almulla et al., 2016
Aqua-Gulf	Qatar	<1.0	0.1	Almulla et al., 2016
Rayyan	Qatar	0.7	0.94	Almulla et al., 2016
Safa	Saudi Arabia	1	0.802	Aldress and Al-Manea, 2010
Nova	Saudi Arabia	0.8	0.799	Aldress and Al-Manea, 2010
Hana	Saudi Arabia	0.85	0.805	Aldress and Al-Manea, 2010
Hada	Saudi Arabia	0.8	0.826	Aldress and Al-Manea, 2010
Alqassim	Saudi Arabia	0.95	0.800	Aldress and Al-Manea, 2010
Arwa	Saudi Arabia	< 0.1	0.502	Aldress and Al-Manea, 2010
Alpin	Turkey	0.05	0.120	Walia et al., 2017
Ahlan	UAE	NM	0.053	Walia et al., 2017
Crystal	UAE	NM	0.053	Walia et al., 2017
Zulal	UAE	0.4	0.500	Walia et al., 2017
Ice Berg	UAE	< 0.03	0.048	Walia et al., 2017

8.2.2. Fluoride in Tea:

Tea (*Camellia sinensis* L) is one of the most popular beverages consumed by many people in different countries. Tea can be found in temperate and tropical regions. Tea is cultivated in acidic soils. In addition, it grows best at lower temperatures, high humidity, and high rainfall (Fung et al., 2003). Tea accumulates aluminum and fluoride (Fung et al., 2003). Fluoride can be used as a quality indicator for tea (Lu et al, 2004). Tea is one of the main sources of dietary intake of fluoride. Tea accumulates fluoride in its leaves (Mahvi et al, 2006). Mature tealeaves can accumulate larger amounts of fluoride without showing any symptoms of fluoride toxicity (Ruan et al., 2004). Aluminum enhances the uptake of fluoride. Aluminosilicate in clays releases aluminum under acidic conditions; as a result, fluoride present in the soil forms complexes with aluminum, increasing their uptake by tea plants (Sofuoglu and Kavcar, 2008). Ruan et al. (2004) investigated the effect of pH, liming, and calcium on the uptake of fluoride by tea. At pH 5.5, the fluoride concentrations in tealeaves were highest and reduced dramatically at pH 4.0. Liming significantly reduced the fluoride concentrations in the root and leaves. Also, it increased magnesium and calcium contents, yet significantly reduced the aluminum content. The addition of calcium decreased the fluoride concentrations. Precipitation of fluorite has been suggested as the reason for fluoride uptake reduction upon adding calcium (Ruan et al., 2004).

Furthermore, a study in Peak Lantau Island, which is one of the oldest tea plantations in Hong Kong, showed that black tea released significantly higher amounts of fluoride in tea infusions compared to green tea (Fung et al., 2003). The total fluoride content of black and green tea in the study was 442 and 297 mg/kg, respectively. Tea samples were collected from five tea plantations in Guangdong Province, China to assess the fluoride content (Fung et al., 1999). Two tea infusion techniques were used in the study, repeated and continuous infusion. Highest Fluoride accumulation was observed in mature and fallen tealeaves. The fluoride content in leaves was proportional to the age of the leaves (Fung et al., 1999). Highest soluble fluoride was observed in brick tea and lowest in oolong tea. The soluble fluoride conventration for brick tea was 4.23-7.05 mg/L and 4.73-7.34 mg/L from repeated and continuous infusions, respectively.

Brick tea is a low quality tea and has older leaves. Therefore, it accumulates higher levels of fluoride compared to other types of tea (Cao et al., 1997). Dental fluorosis was reported in Tibetans living in Sichuan Province, where the consumption of brick tea is common (Wong et al., 2003). Cao et al. (1997) conducted a study on three communities in China to assess the effect of brick tea consumption on the prevalence of dental fluorosis. Fluoride concentrations in these communities were extremely low. The prevalence of dental fluorosis in the Mongol, Kazak, and Yugu communities was 52%, 84%, and 76%, respectively (Cao et al., 1997). The daily intake of fluoride from brick tea was 2.58, 5.54, and 5.30 mg/day for Mongol, Kazak, and Yugu, respectively.

Das et al., 2017 sampled 47 tealeaves collected from 13 countries to analyze the fluoride content. The tea samples included herbal, black, green, oolong, puerh, and white tea. The results show that white tea had the highest fluoride content. Nonetheless, the fluoride concentration of the tea infusion was highest in green tea (Das et al., 2017). In Ireland, a study on 54 widely consumed brands of black tea was done to measure the fluoride content (Waugh et al., 2016). The mean fluoride concentration in the tea infusions was 3.3 mg/L, ranging from 1.6-6.1 mg/L. All of the tea samples exceeded the maximum permissible limit of 1.5 mg/L.

In the Gaza strip, fluoride levels in tea sold in the local markets were analyzed (Shomar et al., 2004). The tea was prepared following the local practice, which involves boiling 10 g of tea in one liter water. The tea infusion contained fluoride levels ranging from 3.7-5.5 mg/L with an average of 4.7 mg/L. Mahvi et al. (2006) tested 10 brands of Iranian black teas to measure the fluoride content. The fluoride content in the tea ranged from 35-182 mg/kg, and the fluoride concentration in the tea infusions ranged from 0.57-2.6 mg/L. Moreover, a study was conducted to evaluate the fluoride content of Turkish black tea (Sofuoglu and Kavcar, 2008). The fluoride content of the tea infusions ranged from 0.34-1.48 mg/L with a mean of 0.68 mg/L.

The fluoride content of 44 brands of iced tea products sold in the U.S was evaluated (Behrendt et al., 2002). The iced tea products were made from different types of tea. The results show that the fluoride content of these products ranged from 0.03-3.35 mg/L, where 36.3% of

the samples were within 1.1-1.5 mg/L (Behrendt et al., 2002). Whyte et al. (2006) also analyzed the fluoride content of different commercially available iced tea products in the United States. Table 8.2 shows the mean fluoride concentration measured in the study. The fluoride content of the iced tea brands ranged from 0.9-4.1 mg/L.

		Mean fluoride
		content
Product	Brand	(mg/L)
Original Iced Tea	Lipton	3.4
Iced Tea	Nestle	2.8
Diet Green Tea With Ginseng	Arizona	1.4
Iced Tea (Lemon Flavor)	Arizona	1.7
No Carb Green Tea	Arizona	1.3
Iced Tea with Ginseng Extract	Arizona	1.8
Rx Stress Herbal Iced Tea	Arizona	2.3
Herbal Tea	Sweet Leaf	0.9
Green Tea	Sweet Leaf	3.2
Sweet Tea	Sweet Leaf	4.1
Iced Tea	Snapple	1.0

Table 8.2. Mean fluoride concentration of different iced tea products (adapted from Whyte et al., 2006)

9. Fluoride in Dentifrice Products:

Fluoride rinses are used as an additional measure to protect against dental caries (Delbem et al., 2003). The fluoride levels of dentifrice products do not necessarily reflect the actual fluoride content. Aldrees et al. (2014) evaluated the fluoride concentration of 25 brands of mouth rinses available in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. Six samples were collected from each brand. The average fluoride concentration ranged from 8.4 - 448.7 mg/L. Brands that were significantly different from the label value were 60%. Table 9.1 shows the labeled and measured fluoride values of the 25 brands of mouthrinses. A study was conducted to evaluate the fluoride content of moutrinses sold in Brazil (Delbem et al., 2003). The results show that the fluoride content of mouthrinses used in the

study rarely agreed with the label value (Delbern et al., 2003). The percent of solutions with

higher fluoride concentration than mentioned were 50%.

Table 9.1. Label and measured fluoride value of different brands of mouthrinses (adapted from Aldrees et al., 2014).

	Mean fluoride	Label value
Brand	(mg/L)	(mg/L)
Aquafresh (Extreme Clean)	249.5	250
Aquafresh (Extra Care)	245.7	250
Colgate (Total)	224.7	225
Colgate (Multiprotection)	223.5	250
Colgate (Soin Complete)	224.6	250
Depurdent	251.9	250
El-Cemed	249.4	250
Enliven	224.6	250
Emofluor	247.7	250
Florosept	224.4	250
Lacalut	221.5	225
Listerine	219.7	220
Classic Mint	224.2	250
Nitra	181.7	109
Paradontax	249.5	250
Sensodyne (Pronamel)	448.7	450
Signal (Sensitive Expert)	224.6	225
Signal (Integral)	223.9	225
Sensodyne (Gentle Mouthrinse)	249.9	250
Colgate (Fresh Tea)	224	-
Durban's	227.5	-
Pearl drops	222.9	-
Voza	8.4	-
Biosmos	222.5	-
Orto	526.9	-

Moreover, toothpastes contain fluoride as well. Cochran et al. 2004 examined a total of 188 tubes of toothpaste to measure the fluoride content. Only 25% of the toothpastes sampled agreed with the label value. The percentages of fluoride in toothpastes higher or lower than labeled were 16% and 59%. In the Northwest region of England, fifty children participated in a study in to determine the amount of fluoride ingested and retained after brushing (Bentley et al., 1999). The children participating in the study were Thirty- month old. Two fluoride toothpastes

were used. Half of the children used 1450 mg/L toothpaste and the other half used 400 mg/L. Fluoride ingested was measured by subtracting the amount of fluoride removed after brushing from the amount dispensed on the toothbrush. For the 1450 mg/L toothpaste, the average fluoride intake was 0.06 mg/kg/day, ranging from 0.007-0.14 mg/kg/day. The mean fluoride intake was 0.01 mg/kg/day, ranging from 0.002-0.05 mg/kg/day, for children using 400 mg/L toothpaste. The recommended daily intake of fluoride ranges from 0.05-0.07 mg/kg (Leverett, 1986; Burt, 1992). Eleven of the children in the study exceeded the recommended range (Bentley et al., 1999). Furthermore, a study was done on 1-3 year old children in Sao Paulo, Brazil to determine the daily fluoride intake from diet and dentifrice (Almeida et al., 2007). A 1500 mg/L toothbrush was used in the study. The same method used by Bentely et al. (1999) was utilized to measure ingested fluoride. The results show that intake of fluoride from dentifrice is higher than diet in children in the area. The average fluoride intake from dentifrice was 0.106 mg/kg/day, ranging from 0.004-0.401 mg/kg/day. In addition, Intake of fluoride from dentifrice corresponded to 81.5% for children. At this daily exposure, a total of 24 out of the 33 children examined are at risk of fluorosis (Almeida et al., 2007). The method used by Bentley et al. (1999) and Almeida et al. (2007) could overestimate the fluoride ingested because fluoride can be absorbed by the blood or retained in soft tissue, plaque, and teeth (Cochran et al., 2004).

A study was conducted in Bauru, Brazil, a fluoridated community, to evaluate the fluoride intake of 4-7 year old children (Pessan et al., 2003). Toothpaste with 1570 mg/L fluoride was used in the evaluation. The authors observed that 33.3% of the children were exposed to fluoride dosage above 0.07 mg/kg/day. In addition, the authors deduced that the main source of fluoride intake by the children was dentifrice, which constitutes 57.43% of the total intake. Naccache et al. (1992) studied the factors that could influence fluoride ingestion during

burnishing among children. The study was done in Quebec City, Canada. Children participating in the study were 2-7 years old. The results show that the amount of fluoride ingested decreased with age. Also, there was no correlation between amount dentifrice used and the child's age. The study estimates that dentifrice constitutes a significant portion of daily fluoride intake (Naccache et al., 1992).

10. Anthropogenic Sources of Fluoride:

Wastewaters generated from mining and ore-processing operations can produce significant amounts fluoride (Gaciri and Davies, 1993). Plant's exposure to gaseous fluoride can penetrate through the stomata. This results in reduced synthesis of chlorophyll; in addition, it causes necrosis and distortion of plant's leaves (Raveendran, 1990). Particulate fluoride can be deposited on the leaves. If they are soluble, particulate fluoride can be leached, hence, causing less damage (Thompson et al., 1979). A study showed that precipitation has a considerable effect on the uptake of fluoride by plants because it can cause leaching of fluoride from leaves (Vike, 2004). Environmental conditions such as light, temperature, and humidity can enhance the uptake rate of fluoride in plants (Vike and Håbjørg, 1995).

Over 90% of the population of Khouribga, Morocco had fluorosis due to phosphate industries present in the area (Haikel et al., 1989). A study along the Egyptian coast showed the average fluoride concentration ranged form 9.3-10.5 mg/L from three locations (El-Sadaawy and El-Said, 2014). In addition, elevated fluoride concentrations were observed in 19 different fish species along the coast. Elevated fluoride levels observed along the coast are due to intensive discharge of wastewaters produced from industries in the area (El-Sadaawy and El-Said, 2014. These industries include steel manufacture; primary aluminum, copper, and nickel production; phosphate ore processing, phosphate fertilizer production, glass, brick, and ceramic and glue manufacturing.

Coal is one of the most abundant fossil fuel resources (Ando et al., 2001). Coal contains different type of hazardous chemicals, including fluoride. Coal releases gaseous and aerosol fluoride into air. Fluoride in indoor air can be inhaled by residents and absorbed into stored food (Ando et al., 1998). A total of 31 million people in China suffered from airborne fluoride in 1997. A total of 18 million and 1.47 million cases of dental and skeletal fluorosis, respectively, were reported in China, which is possibly due emissions of high fluoride from coal (Ando et al., 2001). In Guizhou Province, China, the fluoride content of coal ranged from 16.6-500 mg/kg with an average of 83.1 mg/kg (Dai et al., 2004).

Ando et al (1998) assessed the concentration of indoor airborne fluoride in Chinese communities. The daily mean airborne fluoride concentration indoors was 74.4 μ g/m³. Ando et al. (2001) assessed the health effects of fluoride caused by coal in polluted communities in China. The results show that the prevalence of dental and skeletal fluorosis was 99.5% 94%, respectively, in the heavily polluted area. Contaminated food is the main contributor of fluoride exposure in the area as a result of the excessive use of coal (Ando et al., 2001).

Phosphate fertilizers have higher fluoride levels (Mourad et al., 2009). Phosphate fertilizers contain 1.3-3.0% fluoride as impurities (McLaughlin et al., 1996). Fluoride from fertilizer factories is emitted in the form hydrofluoric acid (HF) and flurosilicilic acid (H₂SiF₆). Compounds used in manufacturing fertilizers can form soluble fluoride (Mirlean et al., 2007). Different types of fertilizers have different fluoride contents. The fluoride contents of Superphosphate, potash, and NPK are 2750, 10, and 1675 mg/kg, respectively (Rao, 1997). Al Attar et al. (2012) found that the fluoride contents of raw phosphate ore, fertilizers and phosphogypsum, from a Syrian phosphate industry were 3300, 11,943, and 4675 mg/kg, respectively. It is estimated that the application of 10-30 kg /hector-year of superphosphate is likely to add 2-5 kg/hector-year of fluoride to soils (Loganathan et al., 2003). Mourad et al. (2009) showed that wastewater discharged from a phosphate fertilizer plant in the Nile Delta region, Egypt has vital environmental ramifications in the surrounding area. Fluorinated pesticides produce large quantities of fluoride as waste. Improper disposal of waste can contaminate groundwater sources.

Samples of apatite and fertilizers were collected from a phosphate fertilizer plant in Rio Grande, Brazil to measure their fluoride content (Mirlean et al., 2007). The water-soluble fluoride concentration in apatite was 254 mg/L. In the fertilizer samples, the water-soluble fluoride concentration reached 10,000 mg/L. The concentration of fluoride in rainwater in the area ranged from 0.01-3.4 mg/L. In addition, the results show that the concentration of fluoride decreased drastically with distance from the plant. The fluoride content of the soil ranged from 90-23,700 mg/kg. The highest fluoride concentration in the soil was observed near the plant. In the groundwater, the fluoride concentration ranged from 0.1-4.79 mg/L (Mirlean et al., 2007). A study was done in Long Harbour, Canada to analyze the condition of vegetation in the vicinity of a phosphorus plant (Thompson et al., 1979). Damage to vegetation in the vicinity of the plant varied from burns to complete death. The average fluoride levels ranged from 44 mg/L in minimally damaged areas to 281 mg/L in severely damaged areas. In addition, the degree of damage to vegetation was inversely proportional to the distance from the plant.

Aluminum is produced by the electrolysis of alumina dissolve in cryolite (Na_3AlF_6). Fluoride evolved from the cells is composed mainly of HF, CF₄, C₂F₆, and SiF₄ (Gago et al., 2014). In Norway, a study showed that there was a positive correlation between fluoride

emissions from 8 aluminum smelters in the area and fluoride accumulation of pine needles (Horntvedt, 1995). Another study was conducted in Norway that showed higher fluoride emissions from an aluminum smelter result in higher fluoride content in vegetation around the smelter (Vike and Håbjørg, 1995). Furthermore, Raveendran, (1990) evaluated fluoride emissions and its effect on vegetation and water in the vicinity of an aluminum reduction plant in Bahrain. The average gaseous fluoride was 19.9 μ g/m³, ranging from 2.2-92.9 μ g/m³. The particulate fluoride ranged form 3.3-53.4 μ g/m³ with a mean of 13.5 μ g/m³. The highest fluoride was observed in vegetation near the plant. Fluoride concentrations in rainwater and surface water were 46.4 and 172 mg/L, respectively (Raveendran, 1990).

11. Removal Techniques:

Fluoride can be removed by four principal processes: adsorption, ion exchange, coagulation/precipitation, and membrane filtration. Compounds that can remove fluoride through adsorption include activated alumina, activated carbon, calcite, activated saw dust, activated coconut shell carbon, groundnut shell, coffee husk, rice husk, magnesia, serpentine, tri-calcium phosphate, bone charcoal (Meenakshi and Maheshwari, 2006). Incorporating metal ions into ion exchange systems can increase the defluoridation capacity (Viswanathan and Meenakshi, 2009a). Two types of membrane process can remove fluoride, which are nano-filtration and reverse osmosis. Table 8 summarizes the advantages and disadvantages of the principal processes that remove fluoride.

Table 11.1. Advantages and	disadvantages	of the main	fluoride removal	l processes	(Meenakshi
and Maheshwari, 2006)					

Adsorption Adsorption Adsorption Adsorption Advantages: Cost effective.	Process	Advantages/Disadvantages		
	Adsorption	Advantages: • 90% removal efficiency • Cost effective. Disadvantages:		

	• Dependent on pH,		
	Can cause fouling if TDS is high		
	 Presence of competing anions affect removal 		
	Requires pretreatment.		
	Advantages:		
	• 90-95% removal efficiency		
	Retains taste and color.		
	Disadvantages:		
Ion Exchange	Competing anions affect removal		
	• Regeneration of resin, which could lead to high F waste that		
	requires separate treatment		
	Expensive technology		
	• Treated water is acidic and has high Cl		
	Disadvantages:		
	• Removes small portion of F (18-33%) and converts the rest		
	(67-83%) to fluoride complexes		
Coagulation/Precipitat	Increases sulfate due to the use of alumina sulfate		
ion	Residual aluminum in excess in treated water		
	Produces taste		
	High maintenance cost		
	Advantages:		
	Highly effective in removal.		
Membrane Filtration	 Can treat and disinfect at the same time. 		
	 Constant water quality 		
	No chemicals added		
	Not affected by existing anions		
	 Long life of membrane and permits wide range of pH 		
	Disadvantages:		
	Expensive		
	Produces acidic water		
	Produces brine which requires disposal or treatment		
1			

11.1 Current Research on Fluoride Removal Techniques:

Eggshell powder can be employed as a low-cost adsorbent to remove fluoride from aqueous solutions (Bhaumik et al., 2012). In addition, fluoride can be removed by alumina cement granules and activated basic oxygen furnace (Ayoob et al., 2008; Islam and Patel, 2011a). In addition, Santhi (2010) showed that Drumsticks and its leaves, which is a common vegetable in south India, could be used to remove fluoride.

Reports suggest that fluoride removal by limestone treatment with phosphoric acid is highly efficient; also, it is economically feasible (Gogi et al., 2015). Nonetheless, this type of treatment can produce highly acidic effluent water. Dutta et al. (2016) showed that limestone beds treated with dilute phosphoric acid could remove fluoride without producing highly acidic effluent, which makes it environmentally feasible. Also, The treatment process has low cost and can be easily operated. This process can be a feasible on-site removal technique in many developing countries (Dutta et al., 2016). Furthermore, bio-char (green waste) adsorbents are low-cost materials that can be utilized to remove fluoride. Mohan et al. (2012) observed that the maximum adsorption of bio-char occurs at pH 2.0, which makes it not a viable option for largescale water treatment systems. At this low pH, the effluent water would need further treatment to adjust the pH, which would make it not a feasible option in terms of cost. Corncobs are abundant and cheap resources. The surface of Corncobs contains cellulose. When in contact with water, it induces a negatively charged surface on corncobs, which cannot remove fluoride (Parmar et al., 2006). Nonetheless, by modifying the surface of corncobs with metal ions, the positive metal ions can be deposited on its surface, thus, attracting fluoride ions. Parmar et al., 2006 showed that using metal loaded corncobs is economically feasible and has good removal efficiency.

Moreover, fluoride can be removed by waste carbon slurry, which can be obtained from fuel oil generators of fertilizer industries (Gupta et al., 2007). Waste carbon slurry has high adsorption capacities and can remove low concentrations of fluoride; in addition, the treatment process is cost effective (Gupta et al., 2007). Polycinnamamide thorium (IV) phosphate adsorbents are synthesized from cinnamamide, thorium nitrate and phosphoric acid (Islam et al., 2011b). The maximum removal efficiency of the adsorbent occurs at low fluoride levels. Thus, it is a suitable process in treating influent waters with low fluoride concentrations (Islam et al.,

2011b). In addition, calcined magnesium oxide (MgO) and pullulan, an extracellular watersoluble microbial polysaccharide, composite can be an effective treatment process for fluoride (Kang et al., 2011). Chitosan beds have negligible defluoridation capacity; however, a study showed that chemically modifying chitosan beds could improve the fluoride removal (Viswanathan and Meenakshi, 2009b). Neodymium-modified chitosan is a form of modified chitosan that has the potential to remove fluoride (Yao et al., 2009). Furthermore, coal fly ash is one of the major industrial solid wastes. Xu et al. (2011) showed that Loaded-magnesia fly ash could efficiently remove fluoride at a low cost (Xu et al., 2011). Natural zeolite (CZ) adsorbents can be utilized to treat fluoride. A study showed that calcium chloride (CaCl₂) modified Natural zeolite (CZ) improves the removal efficiency of the adsorbent (Zhang and Zhong, 2011).

11. Conclusion:

In conclusion, Fluoride is the thirteenth most abundant element and constitutes 0.06-0.09% of the earth's crust. Fluorite is the principal mineral of fluoride. Fluoride can be present in different types of rocks, such as granite, basalts, dolerites, quartzites, biotite, fluorapatite, cryolite, and villuanite. Fluoride is usually found in high bicarbonate and low calcium groundwater sources. At low concentrations, fluoride can prevent dental caries. However, at fluoride concentrations of 1.5 mg/L or above, it can lead to dental fluorosis. At fluoride concentrations higher than 4 mg/L, it can cause skeletal fluorosis. Malnutrition and impaired renal function can increase the severity and incidence of fluorosis. Other health effects of fluoride include Liver and Kidney damage, gastrointestinal irritation, and inhibition of brain energy production.

The World Health Organization has a set a maximum permissible limit for fluoride at 1.5 mg/L. However, fluoride standards differ in many countries, depending on the climate patterns

and water consumption rates. Fluorides can contaminant potable water supplies, especially groundwater resources. Groundwater is a major source of potable water. Groundwater can constitute 80% of the potable water supplies in countries in the Greater Middle East, such as Saudi Arabia. Excessive fluoride has been reported in Argentina, China, Estonia, Ethiopia, India, Mexico, and the United States. In addition, excessive fluoride has been reported in different parts of the Greater Middle East. Also, fluoride concentrations can be extremely low especially in the in the Greater Middle East, such as the Levant region, Iraq, and Turkey, where fluoride can be below 1 mg/L. In addition, there are many reports of fluoride levels exceeding 1.5 mg/L in the area, such as Saudi Arabia, Palestine, Iran, and Tunisia. Other reports show regions with fluoride concentrations exceeding 10 mg/L, such as Oman, Yemen, and Pakistan.

Food and beverages can contain considerable amounts of fluoride. Typically, leafy vegetable can contain significant amounts of fluoride because it is more susceptible to airborne fluoride. Fruits, nuts, legumes and poultry have lower fluoride concentrations. The concentration of fluoride in food supplies depends on the fluoride level in the water supply. Beverages typically have low fluoride concentrations, except for tea. Tea can contain fluoride concentrations as high as 7 mg/L, such as brick tea. Iced tea products can also be a source of excessive fluoride and can have fluoride concentrations of 4 mg/L. The use of water bottles has increased, especially in the Greater Middle East because people do not trust the quality of municipal waters. Based on the studies presented in this report, most water bottles have fluoride concentration below 1.5 mg/L. Dentifrice products can be a significant source of fluoride for children. Studies show that the intake of fluoride in children from toothpaste can exceed the optimal daily intake of 0.05-0.07 mg/kg. Anthropogenic sources of fluoride include phosphate fertilizers, pesticides, sewage and sludge, aluminum smelting, and steel industries. Wastewaters

from these industries can introduce high concentrations fluoride to the environment that can lead to groundwater contamination.

Fluoride can be removed by adsorption, precipitation, membrane filtration, and ion exchange. Current research shows that there are many feasible treatment process that can efficiently remove fluoride, such as activated alumina, activated carbon, calcite, activated saw dust, activated coconut shell carbon, and modified corncobs. Nonetheless, some of these processes are only applicable for a full-scale system. In addition, the effluent of some of these processes requires further treatment. In the Greater Middle East, people living in urbanized areas depend on either municipal or mostly bottled water for potable use. These sources have fluoride levels within acceptable range. However, people living in rural areas depend on private or local groundwater wells for domestic, agricultural, and potable use. These wells are usually not treated and can have significant concentrations of fluoride. Therefore, an on-site removal process of fluoride that is easily operated is important for people living in rural communities in the Greater Middle East to ensure safe drinking water.

References

- Abdel-Azeem, A. M., Abdel-Moneim, T. S., Ibrahim, M. E., Saleh, M. Y., Saleh, S. Y., & Abdel-Moneim, A.-M. O. (2009). *Microbiological and Physicochemical Analysis of Groundwater and Its Biological Effect on Population in Saint Katherine Protectorate, Egypt.* Paper presented at the Water Technol. Conf.
- Abdellah, A. M., Abdel-Magid, H. M., & Shommo, E. I. (2013). Assessment of groundwater quality in southern suburb of the Omdurman city of Sudan. *Greener J. Environ. Manage. Publ. Safety, 2*, 83-90.
- Abouleish, M. Y. (2016). Evaluation of fluoride levels in bottled water and their contribution to health and teeth problems in the United Arab Emirates. *Saudi Dent J*, 28(4), 194-202. doi:10.1016/j.sdentj.2016.08.002
- Abu Jabal, M. S., Abustan, I., Rozaimy, M. R., & Al-Najar, H. (2014). Fluoride enrichment in groundwater of semi-arid urban area: Khan Younis City, southern Gaza Strip (Palestine). *Journal of African Earth Sciences*, 100, 259-266. doi:10.1016/j.jafrearsci.2014.07.002
- Abu Rukah, Y., & Alsokhny, K. (2004). Geochemical assessment of groundwater contamination with special emphasis on fluoride concentration, North Jordan. *Chemie der Erde -Geochemistry*, 64(2), 171-181. doi:10.1016/j.chemer.2003.11.003
- Abuhaloob, L., & Abed, Y. (2013). Dietary behaviours and dental fluorosis among Gaza Strip children. *Eastern Miditerranean Health Journal*, 19(7), 657-663
- Agoubi, B., & Gzam, M. (2016). Adverse effects of phosphate industry on the environment and groundwater geochemistry in the Ghannouch field, Southeastern Tunisia. *American Journal of Geophysics, Geochemistry and Geosystems, 2*(5), 51-63.
- Ahmed, A. A. (2014). Fluoride in Quaternary groundwater aquifer, Nile Valley, Luxor, Egypt. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*, 7(8), 3069-3083. doi:10.1007/s12517-013-0962-x
- Akpata, E., Fakiha, Z., & Khan, N. (1997). Dental fluorosis in 12–15-year-old rural children exposed to fluorides from well drinking water in the Hail region of Saudi Arabia. *Community dentistry and oral epidemiology*, 25(4), 324-327.
- Al Attar, L., Al-Oudat, M., Shamali, K., Abdul Ghany, B., & Kanakri, S. (2012). Case study: heavy metals and fluoride contents in the materials of Syrian phosphate industry and in the vicinity of phosphogypsum piles. *Environ Technol, 33*(1-3), 143-152. doi:10.1080/09593330.2011.552531
- Al-Agha, M. R. (1995). Environmental contamination of groundwater in the Gaza Strip. *Environmental Geology*, 25(2), 109-113.

- Al-Ajrab, M. G., & Salman, F. D. (2008). Natural fluoride Content of Drinking Water in Two District Areas in Iraq and Yemen (A comparative study). *Al-Rafidain Dental Journal*, (7), 90-103.
- Al-Amry, A. S. (2009). Hydrogeochemistry and origin of fluoride in groundwater of Hidhran & Alburayhi Basin, northwest Taiz City, Yemen. *Delta J Sci, 33*, 10-20.
- Al-Mashaikhi, K., Oswald, S., Attinger, S., Büchel, G., Knöller, K., & Strauch, G. (2012). Evaluation of groundwater dynamics and quality in the Najd aquifers located in the Sultanate of Oman. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 66(4), 1195-1211. doi:10.1007/s12665-011-1331-2
- Al-Mikhlafi, A. S. (2010). Groundwater quality of Yemen volcanic terrain and their geological and geochemical controls. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*, *3*(2), 193-205. doi:10.1007/s12517-009-0068-7
- Al-Mudhaf, H. F., Al-Hayan, M. N., Selim, M. I., & Abu-Shady, A.-S. I. (2011). Mineral Content of Bottled and Desalinated Household Drinking Water in Kuwait. *CLEAN - Soil, Air, Water, 39*(12), 1068-1080. doi:10.1002/clen.201100257
- Al-Oud, S. (2004). Fluoride content of drinking water sources in Al-Gassim region of central Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Applied Sciences*, 4(2), 189-192.
- Al-Salamah, I., & Nassar, I. (2009). Trends in drinking water quality for some wells in Qassim, Saudi Arabia, 1997–2009. J. appl. Sci, 9, 3555-3561.
- Al-Shammery, A., Guile, E., & El Backly, M. (1997). The prevalence of dental fluorosis in Saudi Arabia. *Saudi Dent J*, 9(2), 58-61.
- Al-Turki, A. I. (2009). *Evaluation of well water quality in Hael region of central of Saudi Arabia.* Paper presented at the Proceedings of the 13th International Water Technology Conference.
- Al-Zarah, A. I. (2007). Hydrogeochemical processes of Alkhobar aquifer in Eastern region, Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Applied Sciences*, 7(23), 3669-3667.
- Al-Zarah, A. I. (2011). Elemental composition of groundwater and spring waters in Al-Ahsa Oasis, Eastern Region Saudi Arabia. *Trends in Applied Sciences Research, 6*(1), 1-18.
- Alabdula'aly, A. I. (1997). Fluoride content in drinking water supplies of Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. *Environmental monitoring and assessment, 48*(3), 261-272.
- Alabdulaaly, A. I., Al-Zarah, A. I., & Khan, M. A. (2013). Occurrence of fluoride in ground waters of Saudi Arabia. *Applied Water Science*, *3*(3), 589-595. doi:10.1007/s13201-013-0105-2

- Alaya, M. B., Saidi, S., Zemni, T., & Zargouni, F. (2013). Suitability assessment of deep groundwater for drinking and irrigation use in the Djeffara aquifers (Northern Gabes, south-eastern Tunisia). *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 71(8), 3387-3421. doi:10.1007/s12665-013-2729-9
- Alaya, M. B., Saidi, S., Zemni, T., & Zargouni, F. (2014). Suitability assessment of deep groundwater for drinking and irrigation use in the Djeffara aquifers (Northern Gabes, south-eastern Tunisia). *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 71(8), 3387-3421.
- Aldosari, A. M., Akpata, E. S., Khan, N., Wyne, A., & Al-Meheithif, A. (2003). Fluoride levels in drinking water in the Central Province of Saudi Arabia. *Annals of Saudi medicine*, 23(1-2), 20-23.
- Aldrees, A. M., & Al-Manea, S. M. (2010). Fluoride content of bottled drinking waters available in Riyadh, Saudi Arabia. *Saudi Dent J, 22*(4), 189-193. doi:10.1016/j.sdentj.2010.07.003
- Aldrees, A. M., AlBeshri, S. S., AlSanie, I. S., & Alsarra, I. A. (2014). Assessment of fluoride concentrations in commercially available mouthrinses in central Saudi Arabia. *Saudi Medical Journal*, 35(10), 1278.
- Alhababy, A., & Al-Rajab, A. (2015). Groundwater Quality Assessment in Jazan Region, Saudi Arabia. *Current World Environment, 10*(1), 22-28. doi:10.12944/cwe.10.1.03
- Alharbi, O. A., Loni, O. A., & Zaidi, F. K. (2017). Hydrochemical assessment of groundwater from shallow aquifers in parts of Wadi Al Hamad, Madinah, Saudi Arabia. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*, 10(2). doi:10.1007/s12517-016-2805-z
- Alhassanieh, O., Ghafar, M., & Abdul-Hadi, A.-R. (2001). Element concentrations in groundwater in the eastern phosphate area and southern volcanic area of Syria. *Water Quality Research Journal*, *36*(4), 835-849.
- Ali, A. R., & Abdulrahman, S. H. (2016). Evaluation of Fluoride Contents of Kirkuk City's Drinking Water and Its Source: Lesser Zab River and Its Effect on Human Health. World Academy of Science, Engineering and Technology, International Journal of Environmental, Chemical, Ecological, Geological and Geophysical Engineering, 10(7), 824-829.
- Ali, S., Thakur, S. K., Sarkar, A., & Shekhar, S. (2016). Worldwide contamination of water by fluoride. *Environmental Chemistry Letters*, 14(3), 291-315. doi:10.1007/s10311-016-0563-5
- Almas, K., Shakir, Z., & Afzal, M. (1999). Prevalence and severity of dental fluorosis in Al-Qaseem province Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. *Tropical Dental Journal*, 44-47.

- Almeida, B. S., da Silva Cardoso, V. E., & Buzalaf, M. A. R. (2007). Fluoride ingestion from toothpaste and diet in 1 to 3-year-old Brazilian children. *Community dentistry and oral epidemiology*, *35*(1), 53-63.
- Almulla, H. I., King, N. M., Alnsour, H. M., & Sajnani, A. K. (2016). Fluoride Content of Bottled Drinking Waters in Qatar. *Biol Trace Elem Res*, 174(2), 471-476. doi:10.1007/s12011-016-0718-z
- Alsudani, H. M., Al-Bayati, R. I., & Barbooti, M. M. (2009). Determination of anions by ion chromatochraphy in water samples of Baghdad city. *African Journal of pure and Applied chemistry*, *3*(9), 165-169.
- Alvarez, J. A., Rezende, K., Marocho, S. M. S., Alves, F. B., Celiberti, P., & Ciamponi, A. L. (2009). Dental fluorosis: exposure, prevention and management. *J Clin Exp Dent*, 1(1), 14-18.
- Aminabadi, N., Gangi, A. T., Balayi, E., & Sadighi, M. (2007). Prevalence of fluorosis in 5-12 year-old children in the North-Western Villages of Makoo in 2004. *Journal of dental research, dental clinics, dental prospects, 1*(1), 33-41.
- Amini, M., Mueller, K., Abbaspour, K. C., Rosenberg, T., Afyuni, M., Møller, K. N., & Johnson, C. A. (2008). Statistical modeling of global geogenic fluoride contamination in groundwaters. *Environmental science & technology*, 42(10), 3662-3668.
- Amouei, A., Mahvi, A., Mohammadi, A., Asgharnia, H., Fallah, S., & Khafajeh, A. (2012). Fluoride concentration in potable groundwater in rural areas of Khaf city, Razavi Khorasan province, Northeastern Iran. *The International Journal of Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 3(4), 201-203
- Ando, M., Tadano, M., Asanuma, S., Tamura, K., Matsushima, S., Watanabe, T., & Liang, C. (1998). Health effects of indoor fluoride pollution from coal burning in China. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 106(5), 239-244
- Ando, M., Tadano, M., Yamamoto, S., Tamura, K., Asanuma, S., Watanabe, T., & Liang, C. (2001). Health effects of fluoride pollution caused by coal burning. *Science of the total environment*, 271(1-3), 107-116.
- Aqeel, A., Al-Amry, A., & Alharbi, O. (2017). Assessment and geospatial distribution mapping of fluoride concentrations in the groundwater of Al-Howban Basin, Taiz-Yemen. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*, 10(14). doi:10.1007/s12517-017-3069-y
- Arnesen, A. (1997). Availability of fluoride to plants grown in contaminated soils. *Plant and Soil, 191*(1), 13-25.

- Asghari Moghaddam, A., & Fijani, E. (2008). Distribution of fluoride in groundwater of Maku area, northwest of Iran. *Environmental Geology*, *56*(2), 281-287. doi:10.1007/s00254-007-1163-2
- Askri, B. (2015). Hydrochemical processes regulating groundwater quality in the coastal plain of Al Musanaah, Sultanate of Oman. *Journal of African Earth Sciences, 106*, 87-98. doi:10.1016/j.jafrearsci.2015.03.009
- Ayoob, S., & Gupta, A. K. (2006). Fluoride in Drinking Water: A Review on the Status and Stress Effects. *Critical Reviews in Environmental Science and Technology*, 36(6), 433-487. doi:10.1080/10643380600678112
- Ayoob, S., Gupta, A. K., Bhakat, P. B., & Bhat, V. T. (2008). Investigations on the kinetics and mechanisms of sorptive removal of fluoride from water using alumina cement granules. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 140(1-3), 6-14. doi:10.1016/j.cej.2007.08.029
- Baalousha, H. M. (2011). Mapping groundwater contamination risk using GIS and groundwater modelling. A case study from the Gaza Strip, Palestine. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*, 4(3-4), 483-494. doi:10.1007/s12517-010-0135-0
- Bailey, J. C. (1977). Fluorine in granitic rocks and melts: a review. *Chemical Geology*, 19(1-4), 1-42.
- Bansal, R., & Tiwari, S. C. (2006). Back pain in chronic renal failure. *Nephrol Dial Transplant,* 21(8), 2331-2332. doi:10.1093/ndt/gfl254
- Barbooti, M., Bolzoni, G., Mirza, I., Pelosi, M., Barilli, I., Kadhum, R., & Peterlongo, G. (2010). Evaluation of quality of drinking water from Baghdad, Iraq. *Science World Journal*, *5*(2), 35-46.
- Battaleb-Looie, S., Moore, F., Jacks, G., & Ketabdari, M. R. (2012). Geological sources of fluoride and acceptable intake of fluoride in an endemic fluorosis area, southern Iran. *Environ Geochem Health*, *34*(5), 641-650. doi:10.1007/s10653-012-9451-5
- Battaleb-Looie, S., Moore, F., Malde, M. K., & Jacks, G. (2013). Fluoride in groundwater, dates and wheat: Estimated exposure dose in the population of Bushehr, Iran. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis, 29*(2), 94-99. doi:10.1016/j.jfca.2012.08.001
- Behrendt, A., Oberste, V., & Wetzel, W. E. (2002). Fluoride concentration and pH of iced tea products. *Caries Res, 36*(6), 405-410. doi:10.1159/000066532
- Bentley, E., Ellwood, R., & Davies, R. (1999). Oral hygiene: Fluoride ingestion from toothpaste by young children. *British Dental Journal*, *186*(9), 460.
- Bhargava, D., & Bhardwaj, N. (2009). Study of fluoride contribution through water and food to human population in fluorosis endemic villages of North-Eastern Rajasthan. *Afr J Basic Appl Sci, 1*(3-4), 55-58.
- Bhaumik, R., Mondal, N., Das, B., Roy, P., Pal, K., Das, C., & Baneerjee, A. (2012). Eggshell powder as an adsorbent for removal of fluoride from aqueous solution: equilibrium, kinetic and thermodynamic studies. *Journal of Chemistry*, *9*(3), 1457-1480.

BIS (Bureau of Indian Standards) (2012). Drinking Water-Specification (Second Revision). IS 10500 : 2012

- Blaylock, R. L. (2004). Excitotoxicity: a possible central mechanism in fluoride neurotoxicity. *Fluoride*, *37*(4), 301-314.
- Boskabady, A., Dahrazma, B., Shiva, M., & Ebrahimzadeh, M. H. (2016). Geochemical assessment of groundwater quality with special emphasis on fluoride in Tabasein Plain, Eastern Iran. *Geopersia*, 6(2), 283-298.
- Brahman, K. D., Kazi, T. G., Baig, J. A., Afridi, H. I., Khan, A., Arain, S. S., & Arain, M. B. (2014). Fluoride and arsenic exposure through water and grain crops in Nagarparkar, Pakistan. *Chemosphere*, 100, 182-189. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.11.035
- Bretzler, A., & Johnson, C. A. (2015). The Geogenic Contamination Handbook: Addressing arsenic and fluoride in drinking water. *Applied Geochemistry*, *63*, 642-646. doi:10.1016/j.apgeochem.2015.08.016
- Brindha, K., & Elango, L. (2011). Fluoride in groundwater: causes, implications and mitigation measures. *Fluoride properties, applications and environmental management, 1*, 111-136.
- Brouwer, I., De Bruin, A., Dirks, O. B., & Hautvast, J. (1988). Unsuitability of World Health Organisation guidelines for fluoride concentrations in drinking water in Senegal. *The Lancet*, 331(8579), 223-225.
- Burt, B. (1992). The changing patterns of systemic fluoride intake. *Journal of Dental Research*, 71(5), 1228-1237.
- Cao, J., Zhao, Y., & Liu, J. (1997). Brick tea consumption as the cause of dental fluorosis among children from Mongol, Kazak and Yugu populations in China. *Food and Chemical Toxicology*, 35(8), 827-833.
- Carton, R. J. (2006). Review of the 2006 United States National Research Council report: fluoride in drinking water. *Fluoride*, *39*(3), 163-172.
- Chavoshi, E., Afyuni, M., Hajabbasi, M. A., Khoshgoftarmanesh, A. H., Abbaspour, K. C., Shariatmadari, H., & Mirghafari, N. (2011). Health Risk Assessment of Fluoride Exposure in Soil, Plants, and Water at Isfahan, Iran. *Human and Ecological Risk*

Assessment: An International Journal, 17(2), 414-430. doi:10.1080/10807039.2011.552397

- Clovis, J., & Hargreaves, J. A. (1988). Fluoride intake from beverage consumption. *Community dentistry and oral epidemiology, 16*(1), 11-15.
- Cochran, J. A., Ketley, C. E., Duckworth, R. M., Van Loveren, C., Holbrook, W. P., Seppä, L., & O'mullane, D. M. (2004). Development of a standardized method for comparing fluoride ingested from toothpaste by 1.5-3.5-year-old children in seven European countries. Part 2: Ingestion results. *Community dentistry and oral epidemiology*, 32(1), 47-53.
- Cohen, D., & Conrad, H. M. (1998). 65,000 GPD fluoride removal membrane system in Lakeland, California, USA. *Desalination*, 117(1-3), 19-35.
- Dai, S., Ren, D., & Ma, S. (2004). The cause of endemic fluorosis in western Guizhou Province, Southwest China. *Fuel*, 83(14-15), 2095-2098. doi:10.1016/j.fuel.2004.03.016
- Das, S., de Oliveira, L. M., da Silva, E., Liu, Y., & Ma, L. Q. (2017). Fluoride concentrations in traditional and herbal teas: Health risk assessment. *Environ Pollut*, 231(Pt 1), 779-784. doi:10.1016/j.envpol.2017.08.083
- Davil, M. F., Mazloomi, S., Heibati, B., Miranzadeh, M. B., & Heidari, M. (2012). Drinking water fluoride concentration and its relationship with decayed, missing, and filled teeth index in Mianeh, Iran. *International Journal of Environmental Health Engineering*, 1(8), 1-5.
- De Almeida, B. S., da Silva Cardoso, V. E., & Buzalaf, M. A. R. (2007). Fluoride ingestion from toothpaste and diet in 1-to 3-year-old Brazilian children. *Community dentistry and oral epidemiology*, *35*(1), 53-63.
- Delbem, A. C. B., Sassaki, K. T., Castro, A. M. d., Pinto, L. M. C. P., & Bergamaschi, M. (2003). Assement of the fluoride concentration and pH in different mouthrinses on the brazilian market. *Journal of Applied Oral Science*, 11(4), 319-323.
- Deng, Y., Wang, Y., & Ma, T. (2009). Isotope and minor element geochemistry of high arsenic groundwater from Hangjinhouqi, the Hetao Plain, Inner Mongolia. *Applied Geochemistry*, 24(4), 587-599.
- Dibal, H. U., Schoeneich, K., Garba, I., Lar, U. A., & Bala, E. A. (2012). Overview of fluoride distribution in major aquifer units of northern Nigeria. *Health*, 04(12), 1287-1294. doi:10.4236/health.2012.412189
- Dobaradaran, S., Mahvi, A. H., Dehdashti, S., Abadi, D. R. V., & Tehran, I. (2008). Drinking water fluoride and child dental caries in Dashtestan, Iran. *Fluoride*, 41(3), 220-226.

- Dutta, R., Gogoi, S., Borah, A., Mohan, R., & Nath, S. (2016). *Field Trial of Fluoride Removal by Phosphoric Acid-Crushed Limestone Treatment*. Paper presented at the Proceedings of the 13th IWA Specialized Conference on Small Water and Wastewater Systems. Athens, Greece.
- Easa, A., & Abou-Rayan, A. (2010). Domestic wastewater effect on the pollution of the groundwater in rural areas in Egypt. *Fourteenth International Water Technology Conference, IWTC 14 2010, Cairo, Egypt*
- Edmunds, W. M., & Smedley, P. L. (2013). Fluoride in natural waters. In *Essentials of medical geology* (pp. 311-336): Springer.
- Ekstrand, J., Koch, G., & Petersson, L. (1983). Plasma fluoride concentrations in pre-school children after ingestion of fluoride tablets and toothpaste. *Caries research*, *17*(4), 379-384.
- El Jaoudi, R., Mamouch, F., Ait El Cadi, M., Bousliman, Y., Cherrah, Y., & Bouklouze, A. (2012). Determination of fluoride in tap water in Morocco using a direct electrochemical method. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 89(2), 390-394. doi:10.1007/s00128-012-0706-8
- El Maghraby, M. M. S. (2014). Hydrogeochemical characterization of groundwater aquifer in Al-Madinah Al-Munawarah City, Saudi Arabia. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*, 8(6), 4191-4206. doi:10.1007/s12517-014-1505-9
- El-Sadaawy, M. M., & El-Said, G. F. (2014). Assessment of Fluoride in Three Selected Polluted Environments along the Egyptian Mediterranean Sea: Effects on Local Populations. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal, 20*(6), 1643-1658. doi:10.1080/10807039.2013.858561
- El-Telety, S. K., Ramadan R. I., & Mostafa H. A. (2012). Prevalence of Dental Fluorosis and Associated Risk Factors among a Group of 12-15 Years Old Children in Zagazig Center in Egypt. Egyptian Dental Journal, *58*(1). (Abstract)
- Elmabrok, F. M. (2015). Study of Fluoride Level in the Ground Water of Alagilat City, Libya: Correlation with Physicochemical Parameters. *International Research Journal of Pharmacy*, 6(9), 616-622. doi:10.7897/2230-8407.069120
- Faillice, C. (1998). Brief Note On The Occurence Of HighFluoride Content In Groundwater Of Somalia, *Geologica Romana*, 34, 51-57.
- Fantong, W. Y., Satake, H., Ayonghe, S. N., Suh, E. C., Adelana, S. M., Fantong, E. B., & Zhang, J. (2010). Geochemical provenance and spatial distribution of fluoride in groundwater of Mayo Tsanaga River Basin, Far North Region, Cameroon: implications for incidence of fluorosis and optimal consumption dose. *Environ Geochem Health*, 32(2), 147-163. doi:10.1007/s10653-009-9271-4

- Farooqi, A., Masuda, H., & Firdous, N. (2007a). Toxic fluoride and arsenic contaminated groundwater in the Lahore and Kasur districts, Punjab, Pakistan and possible contaminant sources. *Environmental Pollution*, 145(3), 839-849.
- Farooqi, A., Masuda, H., Kusakabe, M., Naseem, M., & Firdous, N. (2007b). Distribution of highly arsenic and fluoride contaminated groundwater from east Punjab, Pakistan, and the controlling role of anthropogenic pollutants in the natural hydrological cycle. *Geochemical journal*, 41(4), 213-234.
- Farooqi, A., Masuda, H., Siddiqui, R., & Naseem, M. (2009). Sources of arsenic and fluoride in highly contaminated soils causing groundwater contamination in Punjab, Pakistan. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol, 56(4), 693-706. doi:10.1007/s00244-008-9239-x
- Fawell, J. K., Bailey, K., & Chilton, J. (2006). *Fluoride in drinking-water*: World Health Organization.1-144
- Finkelman, R. B., Orem, W., Castranova, V., Tatu, C. A., Belkin, H. E., Zheng, B., & Bates, A. L. (2002). Health impacts of coal and coal use: possible solutions. *International Journal of Coal Geology*, 50(1-4), 425-443.
- Fung, K., Zhang, Z., Wong, J., & Wong, M. (1999). Fluoride contents in tea and soil from tea plantations and the release of fluoride into tea liquor during infusion. *Environmental Pollution*, 104(2), 197-205.
- Fung, K., Zhang, Z., Wong, J., & Wong, M. (2003). Aluminium and fluoride concentrations of three tea varieties growing at Lantau Island, Hong Kong. *Environmental geochemistry* and health, 25(2), 219-232.
- Gaciri, S., & Davies, T. (1993). The occurrence and geochemistry of fluoride in some natural waters of Kenya. *Journal of Hydrology*, *143*(3-4), 395-412.
- Gago, C., Romar, A., Fernández-Marcos, M. L., & Álvarez, E. (2014). Fluoride sorption and desorption on soils located in the surroundings of an aluminium smelter in Galicia (NW Spain). *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 72(10), 4105-4114. doi:10.1007/s12665-014-3304-8
- Gao, X., Wang, Y., Li, Y., & Guo, Q. (2007). Enrichment of fluoride in groundwater under the impact of saline water intrusion at the salt lake area of Yuncheng basin, northern China. *Environmental Geology*, 53(4), 795-803. doi:10.1007/s00254-007-0692-z
- Garmes, H., Persin, F., Sandeaux, J., Pourcelly, G., & Mountadar, M. (2002). Defluoridation of groundwater by a hybrid process combining adsorption and Donnan dialysis. *Desalination*, *145*(1-3), 287-291.

- G.C.C.S (Gulf cooperation council Standard) (1993). Unbottled drinking water standards, standardization and Metrology Organization for the Gulf Cooperation Council Countries # GS 149/193, Riyadh, Saudi Arabia.
- Gogoi, S., Nath, S. K., Bordoloi, S., & Dutta, R. K. (2015). Fluoride removal from groundwater by limestone treatment in presence of phosphoric acid. *J Environ Manage*, *152*, 132-139. doi:10.1016/j.jenvman.2015.01.031
- Gomez, M., Blarasin, M., & Martínez, D. (2009). Arsenic and fluoride in a loess aquifer in the central area of Argentina. *Environmental Geology*, *57*(1), 143-155.
- Guissouma, W., Hakami, O., Al-Rajab, A. J., & Tarhouni, J. (2017). Risk assessment of fluoride exposure in drinking water of Tunisia. *Chemosphere*, *177*, 102-108. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.03.011
- Güler, C., & Alpaslan, M. (2009). Mineral content of 70 bottled water brands sold on the Turkish market: Assessment of their compliance with current regulations. *Journal of Food Composition and Analysis*, 22(7-8), 728-737. doi:10.1016/j.jfca.2009.03.004
- Güler, C., Kurt, M. A., Alpaslan, M., & Akbulut, C. (2012). Assessment of the impact of anthropogenic activities on the groundwater hydrology and chemistry in Tarsus coastal plain (Mersin, SE Turkey) using fuzzy clustering, multivariate statistics and GIS techniques. *Journal of Hydrology*, 414-415, 435-451. doi:10.1016/j.jhydrol.2011.11.021
- Guo, H., Zhang, Y., Xing, L., & Jia, Y. (2012). Spatial variation in arsenic and fluoride concentrations of shallow groundwater from the town of Shahai in the Hetao basin, Inner Mongolia. *Applied Geochemistry*, 27(11), 2187-2196. doi:10.1016/j.apgeochem.2012.01.016
- Guo, Q., Wang, Y., Ma, T., & Ma, R. (2007). Geochemical processes controlling the elevated fluoride concentrations in groundwaters of the Taiyuan Basin, Northern China. *Journal of Geochemical Exploration*, 93(1), 1-12. doi:10.1016/j.gexplo.2006.07.001
- Gupta, S. K., Deshpande, R. D., Agarwal, M., & Raval, B. R. (2005). Origin of high fluoride in groundwater in the North Gujarat-Cambay region, India. *Hydrogeology Journal*, *13*(4), 596-605. doi:10.1007/s10040-004-0389-2
- Gupta, V. K., Ali, I., & Saini, V. K. (2007). Defluoridation of wastewaters using waste carbon slurry. *Water Res, 41*(15), 3307-3316. doi:10.1016/j.watres.2007.04.029
- Haikel, Y., Cahen, P., Turlot, J., & Frank, R. (1989). The effects of airborne fluorides on oral conditions in Morocco. *Journal of Dental Research*, 68(8), 1238-1241.
- Hamdan, M. (2003). The prevalence and severity of dental fluorosis among 12-year-old schoolchildren in Jordan. *International journal of paediatric dentistry*, *13*(2), 85-92.

- Handa, B. (1975). Geochemistry and genesis of Fluoride-Containing ground waters in india. *Groundwater*, 13(3), 275-281.
- Heikens, A., Sumarti, S., van Bergen, M., Widianarko, B., Fokkert, L., van Leeuwen, K., & Seinen, W. (2005). The impact of the hyperacid Ijen Crater Lake: risks of excess fluoride to human health. *Sci Total Environ*, 346(1-3), 56-69. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2004.12.007
- Hoover, R. N., McKay, F. W., & Fraumeni Jr, J. F. (1976). Fluoridated drinking water and the occurrence of cancer. *Journal of the National Cancer Institute*, 57(4), 757-768.
- Horntvedt, R. (1997). Accumulation of airborne fluorides in forest trees and vegetation. *Forest Pathology*, *27*(2), 73-82.
- Hudak, P. F., & Sanmanee, S. (2003). Spatial patterns of nitrate, chloride, sulfate, and fluoride concentrations in the woodbine aquifer of North-Central Texas. *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 82(3), 311-320.
- Hussein, M. T. (2004). Hydrochemical evaluation of groundwater in the Blue Nile Basin, eastern Sudan, using conventional and multivariate techniques. *Hydrogeology Journal*, *12*(2), 144-158.
- Ibrahim, Y., Abu Affan, A., & Bjorvatn, K. (1995a). Prevalence of dental fluorosis in Sudanese children from two villages with 0.25 and 2.56 ppm fluoride in the drinking water. *International journal of paediatric dentistry*, *5*(4), 223-229.
- Ibrahim, Y., Abu Affan, A., & Bjorvatn, K (1995b). Fluoride and Fluorosis in the Sudan. Proceedings of the 1st International Workshop on Fluorosis Prevention and Defluoridation of Water in Ngurdoto, Tanzania, *The International Society for Fluoride Research*, 29-32
- Institute of Standards and Industrial Research of Iran (1992) Chemical specifications of drinking water, ISIRI No. 1053, 4th ed. Institute of Standards and Industrial Research of Iran.
- Islam, M., Mishra, P. C., & Patel, R. (2011a). Fluoride adsorption from aqueous solution by a hybrid thorium phosphate composite. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, *166*(3), 978-985. doi:10.1016/j.cej.2010.11.087
- Islam, M., & Patel, R. (2011b). Thermal activation of basic oxygen furnace slag and evaluation of its fluoride removal efficiency. *Chemical Engineering Journal, 169*(1-3), 68-77. doi:10.1016/j.cej.2011.02.054
- Jackson, R. D., Brizendine, E. J., Kelly, S. A., Hinesley, R., Stookey, G. K., & Dunipace, A. J. (2002). The fluoride content of foods and beverages from negligibly and optimally fluoridated communities. *Community dentistry and oral epidemiology*, *30*(5), 382-391.

- Jansson, L., Lavstedt, S., & Frithiof, L. (2002). Relationship between oral health and mortality rate. *Journal of clinical periodontology*, 29(11), 1029-1034.
- Jeri, B. A. (2016). The Fluoride Concentration of Bottled Drinking Water in Al-Basra City, Iraq. Journal of Baghdad College of Dentistry, 28(1), 143-146.
- Jha, S. K., Nayak, A. K., & Sharma, Y. K. (2008). Response of spinach (Spinacea oleracea) to the added fluoride in an alkaline soil. *Food Chem Toxicol*, 46(9), 2968-2971. doi:10.1016/j.fct.2008.05.024
- Jha, S. K., Nayak, A. K., & Sharma, Y. K. (2009). Fluoride toxicity effects in onion (Allium cepa L.) grown in contaminated soils. *Chemosphere*, 76(3), 353-356. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2009.03.044
- Jiménez-Farfán, M., Hernádez-Guerrero, J., Loyola-Rodríguez, J., & Ledesma-Montes, C. (2004). Fluoride content in bottled waters, juices and carbonated soft drinks in Mexico City, Mexico. *International journal of paediatric dentistry*, 14(4), 260-266.
- Kadhem, A. J. (2013). Assessment of Water Quality in Tigris River-Iraq by Using GIS Mapping. *Natural Resources*, 4(6), 441-448. doi:10.4236/nr.2013.46054
- Kahama, R., Kariuki, D., Kariuki, H., & Njenga, L. (1997). Fluorosis in children and sources of fluoride around Lake Elementaita region of Kenya. *Fluoride*, *30*(1), 19-25.
- Kang, J., Li, B., Song, J., Li, D., Yang, J., Zhan, W., & Liu, D. (2011). Defluoridation of water using calcined magnesia/pullulan composite. *Chemical Engineering Journal*, 166(2), 765-771. doi:10.1016/j.cej.2010.11.031
- Karro, E., Indermitte, E., Saava, A., Haamer, K., & Marandi, A. (2006). Fluoride occurrence in publicly supplied drinking water in Estonia. *Environmental Geology*, 50(3), 389-396. doi:10.1007/s00254-006-0217-1
- Karroum, M., Elgettafi, M., Elmandour, A., Wilske, C., Himi, M., & Casas, A. (2017). Geochemical processes controlling groundwater quality under semi arid environment: A case study in central Morocco. *Sci Total Environ*, 609, 1140-1151. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2017.07.199
- Keshavarzi, B., Moore, F., Esmaeili, A., & Rastmanesh, F. (2010). The source of fluoride toxicity in Muteh area, Isfahan, Iran. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 61(4), 777-786. doi:10.1007/s12665-009-0390-0
- Ketata, M., Hamzaoui, F., Gueddari, M., Bouhlila, R., & Ribeiro, L. (2011). Hydrochemical and statistical study of groundwaters in Gabes-south deep aquifer (south-eastern Tunisia). *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts A/B/C, 36*(5-6), 187-196. doi:10.1016/j.pce.2010.02.006

- Khan, N. B., & Chohan, A. N. (2010). Accuracy of bottled drinking water label content. *Environ Monit Assess, 166*(1-4), 169-176. doi:10.1007/s10661-009-0993-7
- Kim, K., & Jeong, G. Y. (2005). Factors influencing natural occurrence of fluoride-rich groundwaters: a case study in the southeastern part of the Korean Peninsula. *Chemosphere*, 58(10), 1399-1408. doi:10.1016/j.chemosphere.2004.10.002
- Kiritsy, M. C., Levy, S. M., Warren, J. J., Guha-Chowdhury, N., Heilman, J. R., & Marshall, T. (1996). Assessing Fluoride Concentrations of Juices and Juice-Flavored Drinks. *The Journal of the American Dental Association*, 127(7), 895-902. doi:10.14219/jada.archive.1996.0347
- Kumar, B. A. (2015). Fluoride in Agricultral Soil: A Review on its Sources and Toxicity to Plants. *Global Sustainability Transitions: Impacts and Innovations*. 29-37
- Kundu, N., Panigrahi, M., Tripathy, S., Munshi, S., Powell, M., & Hart, B. (2001). Geochemical appraisal of fluoride contamination of groundwater in the Nayagarh District of Orissa, India. *Environmental Geology*, *41*(3-4), 451-460.
- Kundu, M. C., & Mandal, B. (2009a). Assessment of potential hazards of fluoride contamination in drinking groundwater of an intensively cultivated district in West Bengal, India. *Environ Monit Assess*, 152(1-4), 97-103. doi:10.1007/s10661-008-0299-1
- Kundu, M. C., & Mandal, B. (2009b). Agricultural Activities Influence Nitrate and Fluoride Contamination in Drinking Groundwater of an Intensively Cultivated District in India. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 198*(1-4), 243-252. doi:10.1007/s11270-008-9842-5
- Kut, K. M. K., Sarswat, A., Srivastava, A., Pittman, C. U., & Mohan, D. (2016). A review of fluoride in african groundwater and local remediation methods. *Groundwater for Sustainable Development, 2-3*, 190-212. doi:10.1016/j.gsd.2016.09.001
- Larsen, M., Senderovitz, F., Kirkegaard, E., Poulsen, S., & Fejerskov, O. (1988). Dental fluorosis in the primary and the permanent dentition in fluoridated areas with consumption of either powdered milk or natural cow's milk. *Journal of Dental Research*, 67(5), 822-825.
- Latha, S. S., Ambika, S., & Prasad, S. (1999). Fluoride contamination status of groundwater in Karnataka. *Current Science*, *76*(6), 730-734.
- Leili, M., Naghibi, A., Norouzi, H., & Khodabakhshi, M. (2015). The Assessment of Chemical Quality of Drinking Water in Hamadan Province, the West of Iran. *Journal of research in health sciences*, 15(4), 234-238.
- Leverett, D. (1986). Prevalence of dental fluorosis in fluoridated and nonfluoridated communities—a preliminary investigation. *Journal of Public Health Dentistry*, *46*(4), 184-187.

- Levy, S. M., Broffitt, B., Marshall, T. A., Eichenberger-Gilmore, J. M., & Warren, J. J. (2010). Associations Between Fluorosis of Permanent Incisors and Fluoride Intake From Infant Formula, Other Dietary Sources and Dentifrice During Early Childhood. *The Journal of the American Dental Association*, 141(10), 1190-1201. doi:10.14219/jada.archive.2010.0046
- Li, Y., Zhang, H., Zhang, Z., Shao, L., & He, P. (2015). Treatment and resource recovery from inorganic fluoride-containing waste produced by the pesticide industry. *J Environ Sci* (*China*), 31, 21-29. doi:10.1016/j.jes.2014.10.016
- Loganathan, P., Gray, C. W., Hedley, M. J., & Roberts, A. H. C. (2006). Total and soluble fluorine concentrations in relation to properties of soils in New Zealand. *European Journal of Soil Science*, *57*(3), 411-421. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2389.2005.00751.x
- Loganathan, P., Hedley, M. J., Grace, N. D., Lee, J., Cronin, S. J., Bolan, N. S., & Zanders, J. M. (2003). Fertiliser contaminants in New Zealand grazed pasture with special reference to cadmium and fluorine — a review. *Australian Journal of Soil Research*, 41(3). doi:10.1071/sr02126
- Loni, O. A., Zaidi, F. K., Alhumimidi, M. S., Alharbi, O. A., Hussein, M. T., Dafalla, M., & Kassem, O. M. K. (2014). Evaluation of groundwater quality in an evaporation dominant arid environment; a case study from Al Asyah area in Saudi Arabia. *Arabian Journal of Geosciences*, 8(8), 6237-6247. doi:10.1007/s12517-014-1623-4
- Lu, Y., Guo, W.-F., & Yang, X.-Q. (2004). Fluoride content in tea and its relationship with tea quality. *Journal of agricultural and food chemistry*, *52*(14), 4472-4476.
- Mahvi, A. H., Zazoli, M. A., Younecian, M., & Esfandiari, Y. (2006). Fluoride content of Iranian black tea and tea liquor. *Fluoride*, *39*(4), 266-268.
- Mamatha, P., & Rao, S. M. (2009). Geochemistry of fluoride rich groundwater in Kolar and Tumkur Districts of Karnataka. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, *61*(1), 131-142. doi:10.1007/s12665-009-0331-y
- Mann, J., Mahmoud, W., Ernest, M., Sgan-Cohen, H., Shoshan, N., & Gedalia, I. (1990). Fluorosis and dental caries in 6–8-year-old children in a 5 ppm fluoride area. *Community dentistry and oral epidemiology*, 18(2), 77-79.
- MappingOurWorld. "Countries_World_Demog" [Map]. Scale Not Given. "Countries World-Population". August 3, 2016. http://services.arcgis.com/BG6nSlhZSAWtExvp/arcgis/rest/services/Countries_World_D emog/FeatureServer. (June 7 2018)

McGill, P. E. (1995). Endemic fluorosis. Bailliere's clinical rheumatology, 9(1), 75-81.

- Mclaughlin, M. J., Tiller, K., Naidu, R., & Stevens, D. (1996). The behaviour and environmental impact of contaminants in fertilizers. *Soil Research*, *34*(1), 1-54.
- Medical Research Council, Working Group Report: Water Fluoridation and Health. London, MRC: 47, 2002.
- Meenakshi, & Maheshwari, R. C. (2006). Fluoride in drinking water and its removal. J Hazard Mater, 137(1), 456-463. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2006.02.024
- Mesdaghinia, A., Vaghefi, K. A., Montazeri, A., Mohebbi, M. R., & Saeedi, R. (2010). Monitoring of fluoride in groundwater resources of Iran. *Bull Environ Contam Toxicol*, 84(4), 432-437. doi:10.1007/s00128-010-9950-y
- Messaïtfa, A. (2008). Fluoride contents in groundwaters and the main consumed foods (dates and tea) in Southern Algeria region. *Environmental Geology*, 55(2), 377-383.
- Mirlean, N., & Roisenberg, A. (2007). Fluoride distribution in the environment along the gradient of a phosphate-fertilizer production emission (southern Brazil). *Environ Geochem Health*, 29(3), 179-187. doi:10.1007/s10653-006-9061-1
- Misconi, H., & Navi, M. (2010). Medical Geology in the Middle East. In *Medical Geology* (pp. 135-174).
- Misra, A. K., & Mishra, A. (2007). Study of quaternary aquifers in Ganga Plain, India: focus on groundwater salinity, fluoride and fluorosis. *J Hazard Mater*, *144*(1-2), 438-448. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2006.10.057
- Mohan, D., Sharma, R., Singh, V. K., Steele, P., & Pittman, C. U. (2012). Fluoride Removal from Water using Bio-Char, a Green Waste, Low-Cost Adsorbent: Equilibrium Uptake and Sorption Dynamics Modeling. *Industrial & Engineering Chemistry Research*, 51(2), 900-914. doi:10.1021/ie202189v
- Mourad, N. M., Sharshar, T., Elnimr, T., & Mousa, M. A. (2009). Radioactivity and fluoride contamination derived from a phosphate fertilizer plant in Egypt. *Appl Radiat Isot*, 67(7-8), 1259-1268. doi:10.1016/j.apradiso.2009.02.025
- Msonda, K. W. M., Masamba, W. R. L., & Fabiano, E. (2007). A study of fluoride groundwater occurrence in Nathenje, Lilongwe, Malawi. *Physics and Chemistry of the Earth, Parts* A/B/C, 32(15-18), 1178-1184. doi:10.1016/j.pce.2007.07.050
- Nabipour, I., & Dobaradaran, S. (2013). Fluoride concentrations of bottled drinking water available in Bushehr, Iran. *Fluoride*, *46*(2), 63-64.
- Naccache, H., Simard, P. L., Trahan, L., Brodeur, J. M., Demers, M., Lachapelle, D., & Bernard, P. M. (1992). Factors affecting the ingestion of fluoride dentifrice by children. *Journal of Public Health Dentistry*, 52(4), 222-226.

- Nair, G. A., Bohjuari, J. A., Al-Mariami, M. A., Attia, F. A., & El-Touml, F. (2006). Groundwater quality of north-east Libya. *Journal of environmental biology*, 27(4), 695-700.
- Nanyaro, J., Aswathanarayana, U., Mungure, J., & Lahermo, P. (1984). A geochemical model for the abnormal fluoride concentrations in waters in parts of northern Tanzania. *Journal of African Earth Sciences (1983), 2*(2), 129-140.
- Nasr, A. M., Moheb, D. M., & Masry, E. (2014). Prevalence of dental caries in child school from two libya's western cities with different levels of fluoride in their drinking water. *Nat. Sci, 12*(1), 28-34.
- Newbrun, E. (1989). Effectiveness of water fluoridation. *Journal of Public Health Dentistry*, 49(5), 279-289.
- Nouri, J., Mahvi, A. H., Babaei, A., & Ahmadpour, E. (2006). Regional pattern distribution of groundwater fluoride in the Shush aquifer of Khuzestan County, Iran. *Fluoride*, *39*(4), 321.
- Oldham, P., & Newell, D. (1977). Fluoridation of water supplies and cancer-a possible association? *Applied Statistics*, 125-135.
- Osman, A. G., & Kloas, W. (2010). Water Quality and Heavy Metal Monitoring in Water, Sediments, and Tissues of the African Catfish Clarias Gariepinus (Burchell, 1822) from the river Nile, Egypt. *Journal of Environmental Protection*, 1(4), 389-400.
- Özler, H. M., & Aydın, A. (2008). Hydrochemical and microbiological quality of groundwater in West Thrace Region of Turkey. *Environmental Geology*, *54*(2), 355-363. doi:10.1007/s00254-007-0822-7
- Ozsvath, D. L. (2006). Fluoride concentrations in a crystalline bedrock aquifer Marathon County, Wisconsin. *Environmental Geology*, *50*(1), 132-138. doi:10.1007/s00254-006-0192-6
- Paoloni, J., Fiorentino, C., & Sequeira, M. (2003). Fluoride contamination of aquifers in the southeast subhumid pampa, Argentina. *Environmental toxicology*, 18(5), 317-320.
- Parmar, H. S., Patel, J. B., Sudhakar, P., & Koshy, V. (2006). Removal of fluoride from water with powdered corn cobs. *Journal of environmental science & engineering*, 48(2), 135-138.
- Pessan, J. P., Silva, S. M. B. d., & Buzalaf, M. A. R. (2003). Evaluation of the total fluoride intake of 4-7-year-old children from diet and dentifrice. *Journal of Applied Oral Science*, *11*(2), 150-156.

- Poureslami, H. R., Khazaeli, P., & Noori, G. R. (2008). Fluoride in food and water consumed in Koohbanan (Kuh-e Banan), Iran. *Fluoride*, *41*(3), 216-219.
- Queste, A., Lacombe, M., Hellmeier, W., Hillermann, F., Bortulussi, B., Kaup, M., & Mathys, W. (2001). High concentrations of fluoride and boron in drinking water wells in the Muenster region Results of a preliminary investigation. *International Journal of Hygiene and Environmental Health*, 203(3), 221-224. doi:10.1078/s1438-4639(04)70032-2
- Rafati, L., Mokhtari, M., Fazelinia, F., Momtaz, S., & Mahvi, A. H. (2013). Evaluation of Ground Water Fluoride Concentration in Hamadan Province West of IRAN(2012). *Iranian Journal Of Health Sciences*, 1(3), 71-76. doi:10.18869/acadpub.jhs.1.3.71
- Rafique, T., Naseem, S., Bhanger, M. I., & Usmani, T. H. (2008). Fluoride ion contamination in the groundwater of Mithi sub-district, the Thar Desert, Pakistan. *Environmental Geology*, 56(2), 317-326. doi:10.1007/s00254-007-1167-y
- Rafique, T., Naseem, S., Usmani, T. H., Bashir, E., Khan, F. A., & Bhanger, M. I. (2009). Geochemical factors controlling the occurrence of high fluoride groundwater in the Nagar Parkar area, Sindh, Pakistan. *J Hazard Mater*, *171*(1-3), 424-430. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2009.06.018
- Rafique, T., Naseem, S., Ozsvath, D., Hussain, R., Bhanger, M. I., & Usmani, T. H. (2015). Geochemical controls of high fluoride groundwater in Umarkot Sub-District, Thar Desert, Pakistan. *Sci Total Environ*, *530-531*, 271-278. doi:10.1016/j.scitotenv.2015.05.038
- Ramadan, A., & Ghandour, I. (2016). Dental Fluorosis in Two Communities in Khartoum State, Sudan, With Potable Water Fluoride Levels of 1.36 and 0.45 mg/L. *Fluoride, 49*(4), 509-520.
- Ramezani, G. H., Valaei, N., & Eikani, H. (2004). Prevalence of DMFT and fluorosis in the students of Dayer city (Iran). *J indian Soc pedo prev Dent, 22*(2), 49-53.
- Rango, T., Kravchenko, J., Atlaw, B., McCornick, P. G., Jeuland, M., Merola, B., & Vengosh, A. (2012). Groundwater quality and its health impact: an assessment of dental fluorosis in rural inhabitants of the Main Ethiopian Rift. *Environment international*, 43, 37-47.
- Rao, G. S. (1984). Dietary intake and bioavailability of fluoride. *Annual review of nutrition, 4*(1), 115-136.
- Rao, N. R., Rao, N., Rao, K. S. P., & Schuiling, R. (1993). Fluorine distribution in waters of Nalgonda district, Andhra Pradesh, India. *Environmental Geology*, 21(1-2), 84-89.
- Rao, N. S. (1997). The occurrence and behaviour of fluoride in the groundwater of the Lower Vamsadhara River basin, India. *Hydrological sciences journal*, 42(6), 877-892.

- Raveendran, E. (1990). Airborne fluorides in the vicinity of an aluminium reduction plant in Bahrain. *Environmental Technology*, 11(4), 365-370. doi:10.1080/09593339009384873
- Rezaei, M., Nikbakht, M., & Shakeri, A. (2017). Geochemistry and sources of fluoride and nitrate contamination of groundwater in Lar area, south Iran. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int*, 24(18), 15471-15487. doi:10.1007/s11356-017-9108-0
- Rizk, Z. S. (2009). Inorganic chemicals in domestic water of the United Arab Emirates. Environmental geochemistry and health, 31(1), 27-45.
- Ruan, J., Ma, L., Shi, Y., & Han, W. (2004). The impact of pH and calcium on the uptake of fluoride by tea plants (Camellia sinensis L.). Ann Bot, 93(1), 97-105. doi:10.1093/aob/mch010
- Rugg-Gunn, A., Al-Mohammadi, S., & Butler, T. (1997). Effects of fluoride level in drinking water, nutritional status, and socio-economic status on the prevalence of developmental defects of dental enamel in permanent teeth in Saudi 14-year-old boys. *Caries research*, 31(4), 259-267.
- Rugg-Gunn, F. V. Z. A. J. (2009). Fluoride concentration in foods from Iran. *International Journal of Food Sciences and Nutrition*, 50(4), 265-274. doi:10.1080/096374899101148
- Salman, F. D., & Al–Ajrab, M. G. (2008). Natural fluoride Content of Drinking Water in Two District Areas in Iraq and Yemen (A comparative study). *Al–Rafidain Dent J*, 8(1), 90-103
- Samadi, M., Rahmani, A., Sedehi, M., & Sonboli, N. (2009). Evaluation of chemical quality in 17 brands of Iranian bottled drinking waters. *Journal of research in health sciences*, 9(2), 25-31.
- Santhi, D. (2010). Removal of fluoride in drinking water by drumstick bark and its leaves. *I Control Pollution, 26*(1), 119-120.
- Sarma, D., & Rao, S. (1997). Fluoride concentrations in ground waters of Visakhapatnam, India. *Bulletin of environmental contamination and toxicology*, 58(2), 241-247.
- SASO (Saudi Arabian Standards Organization): 1984, Bottled and unbott1ed drinking water, SSA 409/1984, 2nd ed., 1996-03-13, ISSN: 1319-2302: 1984. Available from: SASO Information Center, P.O. Box 3437, Riyadh, 11471, Saudi Arabia, pp. 1-8.
- Saxena, V., & Ahmed, S. (2001). Dissolution of fluoride in groundwater: a water-rock interaction study. *Environmental Geology*, *40*(9), 1084-1087. doi:10.1007/s002540100290

- Saxena, V., & Ahmed, S. (2003). Inferring the chemical parameters for the dissolution of fluoride in groundwater. *Environmental Geology*, *43*(6), 731-736.
- Schamschula, R. G., Sugár, E., Un, P. S., Tóth, K., Barmes, D. E., & Adkins, B. L. (1985). Physiological indicators of fluoride exposure and utilization: an epidemiological study. *Community dentistry and oral epidemiology*, 13(2), 104-117.
- Sehn, P. (2008). Fluoride removal with extra low energy reverse osmosis membranes: three years of large scale field experience in Finland. *Desalination*, 223(1-3), 73-84. doi:10.1016/j.desal.2007.02.077
- Shah, M. T., & Danishwar, S. (2003). Potential fluoride contamination in the drinking water of Naranji area, northwest frontier province, Pakistan. *Environmental geochemistry and health*, 25(4), 475-481.
- Sheiham, A. (1984). Changing trends in dental caries. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 13(2), 142-147.
- Shomar, B., Müller, G., Yahya, A., Askar, S., & Sansur, R. (2004). Fluorides in groundwater, soil and infused black tea and the occurrence of dental fluorosis among school children of the Gaza strip. *Journal of water and Health, 2*(1), 23-35.
- Siddique, A., Mumtaz, M., Saied, S., Karim, Z., & Zaigham, N. A. (2006). Fluoride concentration in drinking water of Karachi city (Pakistan). *Environ Monit Assess*, 120(1-3), 177-185. doi:10.1007/s10661-005-9056-x
- Sigler, W., & Neuhold, J. M. (1972). Fluoride intoxication in fish: a review. *Journal of wildlife diseases*, 8(3), 252-254.
- SNIMA (Moroccan Industrial Standards Office) (1991) Quality standard of water for human consumption, Homologation Decree N 359–91, Morocco
- Sofuoglu, S. C., & Kavcar, P. (2008). An exposure and risk assessment for fluoride and trace metals in black tea. *J Hazard Mater*, 158(2-3), 392-400. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.01.086
- Spak, C.-J., Sjöstedt, S., Eleborg, L., Veress, B., Perbeck, L., & Ekstrand, J. (1989). Tissue response of gastric mucosa after ingestion of fluoride. *BMJ: British Medical Journal*, 298(6689), 1686.
- Srikanth, R., Viswanatham, K., Kahsai, F., Fisahatsion, A., & Asmellash, M. (2002). Fluoride in groundwater in selected villages in Eritrea (North East Africa). *Environmental monitoring and assessment*, 75(2), 169-177.

- Stookey, G. K., Mau, M. S., Isaacs, R. L., Gonzalez-Gierbolini, C., Bartizek, R. D., & Biesbrock, A. R. (2004). The relative anticaries effectiveness of three fluoride-containing dentifrices in Puerto Rico. *Caries Res*, 38(6), 542-550. doi:10.1159/000080584
- Supply, W. U. J. W., Programme, S. M., Organization, W. H., Supply, W. U. J. M. P. f. W., Sanitation, & UNICEF. (2005). *Water for life: Making it happen*: World health organization.
- Susheela, A. (1999). Fluorosis management programme in India. Curr Sci, 77(10), 1250-1256.
- Takahashi, K., Akiniwa, K., & Narita, K. (2001). Regression analysis of cancer incidence rates and water fluoride in the USA based on IACR/IARC (WHO) data (1978-1992). *Journal* of Epidemiology, 11(4), 170-179.
- Thompson, L., Sidhu, S., & Roberts, B. (1979). Fluoride accumulations in soil and vegetation in the vicinity of a phosphorus plant. *Environmental Pollution (1970), 18*(3), 221-234.
- Tokaliogu, Ş., Şahin, U., & Kartal, Ş. (2001). Determination of fluoride and some metal ion levels in the drinking waters in Kayseri Province. *Turkish Journal of Chemistry*, 25(1), 113-121.
- Torra, M., Rodamilans, M., & Corbella, J. (1998). Serum and urine fluoride concentration: relationships to age, sex and renal function in a non-fluoridated population. *Science of the total environment*, 220(1), 81-85.
- US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) (2017). Drinking Water Contaminants Standards and Regulations. https://www.epa.gov/dwstandardsregulations
- Valenzuela-Vásquez, L., Ramírez-Hernández, J., Reyes-López, J., Sol-Uribe, A., & Lázaro-Mancilla, O. (2006). The origin of fluoride in groundwater supply to Hermosillo City, Sonora, México. *Environmental Geology*, 51(1), 17-27. doi:10.1007/s00254-006-0300-7
- Vike, E., & Håbjørg, A. (1995). Variation in fluoride content and leaf injury on plants associated with three aluminium smelters in Norway. *Science of the total environment*, *163*(1-3), 25-34.
- Vike, E. (2005). Uptake, deposition and wash off of fluoride and aluminium in plant foliage in the vicinity of an aluminium smelter in Norway. *Water, Air, and Soil Pollution, 160*(1-4), 145-159.
- Viswanathan, N., & Meenakshi, S. (2009). Role of metal ion incorporation in ion exchange resin on the selectivity of fluoride. *J Hazard Mater*, 162(2-3), 920-930. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.05.118

- Viswanathan, N., Sairam Sundaram, C., & Meenakshi, S. (2009). Development of multifunctional chitosan beads for fluoride removal. *J Hazard Mater*, 167(1-3), 325-331. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.12.123
- Walia, T., Abu Fanas, S., Akbar, M., Eddin, J., & Adnan, M. (2017). Estimation of fluoride concentration in drinking water and common beverages in United Arab Emirates (UAE). *Saudi Dent J*, 29(3), 117-122. doi:10.1016/j.sdentj.2017.04.002
- Waugh, D. T., Potter, W., Limeback, H., & Godfrey, M. (2016). Risk Assessment of Fluoride Intake from Tea in the Republic of Ireland and its Implications for Public Health and Water Fluoridation. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*, 13(3). doi:10.3390/ijerph13030259
- Weinberger, S. (1991). Bottled drinking waters: are the fluoride concentrations shown on the labels accurate? *International journal of paediatric dentistry*, *1*(3), 143-146.
- Wenzel, W. W., & Blum, W. E. (1992). Fluorine speciation and mobility in F-contaminated soils. Soil Science, 153(5), 357-364.
- Whitford, G. M. (1994). Intake and metabolism of fluoride. *Advances in dental research*, 8(1), 5-14.
- World Health Organization (2004). *Guidelines for drinking-water quality: recommendations* (Vol. 1): World Health Organization: Geneva, Switzerland
- Whyte, M. P. (2006). Fluoride levels in bottled teas. *Am J Med*, *119*(2), 189-190. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2005.05.028
- Whyte, M. P., Essmyer, K., Gannon, F. H., & Reinus, W. R. (2005). Skeletal fluorosis and instant tea. *Am J Med*, *118*(1), 78-82. doi:10.1016/j.amjmed.2004.07.046
- Wolska, J., Janda, K., Jakubczyk, K., Szymkowiak, M., Chlubek, D., & Gutowska, I. (2017). Levels of Antioxidant Activity and Fluoride Content in Coffee Infusions of Arabica, Robusta and Green Coffee Beans in According to their Brewing Methods. *Biol Trace Elem Res*, 179(2), 327-333. doi:10.1007/s12011-017-0963-9
- Wong, M., Fung, K., & Carr, H. (2003). Aluminium and fluoride contents of tea, with emphasis on brick tea and their health implications. *Toxicology letters*, 137(1-2), 111-120.
- Xie, Z., Ye, Z., & Wong, M. (2001). Distribution characteristics of fluoride and aluminum in soil profiles of an abandoned tea plantation and their uptake by six woody species. *Environment international*, 26(5-6), 341-346.
- Xiong, X., Liu, J., He, W., Xia, T., He, P., Chen, X., & Wang, A. (2007). Dose-effect relationship between drinking water fluoride levels and damage to liver and kidney functions in children. *Environ Res*, 103(1), 112-116. doi:10.1016/j.envres.2006.05.008

- Xu, X., Li, Q., Cui, H., Pang, J., Sun, L., An, H., & Zhai, J. (2011). Adsorption of fluoride from aqueous solution on magnesia-loaded fly ash cenospheres. *Desalination*, 272(1-3), 233-239. doi:10.1016/j.desal.2011.01.028
- Yadav, A. K., Kaushik, C. P., Haritash, A. K., Singh, B., Raghuvanshi, S. P., & Kansal, A. (2007). Determination of exposure and probable ingestion of fluoride through tea, toothpaste, tobacco and pan masala. *J Hazard Mater*, 142(1-2), 77-80. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2006.07.051
- Yao, R., Meng, F., Zhang, L., Ma, D., & Wang, M. (2009). Defluoridation of water using neodymium-modified chitosan. J Hazard Mater, 165(1-3), 454-460. doi:10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.10.052
- Zabin, S. A., Foaad, M. A., & Al-Ghamdi, A. Y. (2008). Non-Carcinogenic Risk Assessment of Heavy Metals and Fluoride in Some Water Wells in the Al-Baha Region, Saudi Arabia. *Human and Ecological Risk Assessment: An International Journal*, 14(6), 1306-1317. doi:10.1080/10807030802494667
- Zhang, Z., Tan, Y., & Zhong, M. (2011). Defluorination of wastewater by calcium chloride modified natural zeolite. *Desalination*, 276(1-3), 246-252. doi:10.1016/j.desal.2011.03.057
- Zidi, C., Jamrah, A., & Al-Issai, L. (2017). Assessment of Groundwater Quality in Al-Buraimi, Sultanate of Oman. *Journal of Materials and Environmental Sciences*, 8(4), 1266-1276
- Zouari, M., Ben Ahmed, C., Fourati, R., Delmail, D., Ben Rouina, B., Labrousse, P., & Ben Abdallah, F. (2014). Soil fluoride spiking effects on olive trees (Olea europaea L. cv. Chemlali). *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf, 108*, 78-83. doi:10.1016/j.ecoenv.2014.06.022
- Zumlot, T., Batayneh, A., Nazal, Y., Ghrefat, H., Mogren, S., Zaman, H., & Qaisy, S. (2013). Using multivariate statistical analyses to evaluate groundwater contamination in the northwestern part of Saudi Arabia. *Environmental Earth Sciences*, 70(7), 3277-3287. doi:10.1007/s12665-013-2392-1